

# VEGFR-3 in Angiogenesis and Lymphangiogenesis

Lotta Jussila

Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory Haartman Institute and Helsinki University Central Hospital Biomedicum Helsinki University of Helsinki Finland

Academic dissertation

To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the lecture hall 3 of the Biomedicum Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu 8, Helsinki, on December 14<sup>th</sup>, 2001 at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki, 2001

#### Supervised by

Dr. Kari Alitalo Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory University of Helsinki

#### Reviewed by

Dr. Ulf Eriksson Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research Karolinska Institute

and

Dr. Hannu Sariola Institute of Biomedicine University of Helsinki

#### Opponent

Dr. Christer Betsholtz Department of Medical Biochemistry University of Göteborg

ISBN 952-91-4175-0 (nid.) ISBN 952-10-0241-7 (pdf) Multiprint Oy Helsinki

### Contents

Contents 1				
Abbreviations2				
List of Original Publications				
Abstract				
Review of the literature				
Blood vessel development5				
Physiological and pathological angiogenesis6				
Lymphangiogenesis7				
Molecular regulation of blood and lymphatic vessels				
VEGF9				
VEGF-B10				
<i>PlGF</i> 10				
VEGF-C and VEGF-D11				
VEGF-E12				
VEGFR-1 & VEGFR-213				
VEGFR-313				
Neuropilins14				
Angiopoietins and Tie-Receptors14				
PDGFs16				
Ephrins				
Markers for the lymphatic vessels17				
Diseases of the lymphatic vessels18				
Lymphedema				
Kaposi's sarcoma19				
Vascular tumors19				
Tumorigenesis and metastasis20				
Vasculature and growth factors in tumors				
Mechanisms of blood vascular and lymphatic metastasis				
VEGF-C, VEGF-D and tumor metastases				
Therapeutic approaches23				
Anti-angiogenic and anti-metastatic therapy				
Gene and recombinant protein therapy of myocardial and peripheral				
ischemia24				
Therapeutic lymphangiogenesis25				
Aims of the study				
Materials and Methods				
Results and Discussion				
Conclusions				
Acknowledgements				
References				

### Abbreviations

aa	amino acid
Ang	angiopoietin
BEC	blood vascular endothelial cell
E.	embryonic day
EC	endothelial cell
ECM	extracellular matrix
Flk-1	fetal liver kinase 1 (mouse VEGFR-2)
Flt-1	fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (VEGFR-1)
Flt-4	fms-like tyrosine kinase-4 (VEGFR-3)
lg	immunoglobulin
kD	kilodalton
KDR	kinase insert domain containing receptor (human VEGFR-2)
KS	Kaposi's sarcoma
LEC	lymphatic endothelial cell
LYVE-1	lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronan receptor -1
MoAb	monoclonal antibody
mRNA	messenger ribonucleid acid
NRP	neuropilin
Ρ.	postnatal day
PoAb	polyclonal antibody
PECAM-1	platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PDGFR	PDGF receptor
PlGF	placenta growth factor
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
SMC	smooth muscle cell
Tek	tunica interna endothelial cell kinase (Tie-2)
Tie	tyrosine kinase with Ig and EGF homology domains (Tie-1)
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	VEGF receptor
VWF	von Willebrand factor

### **List of Original Publications**

This thesis is based on following original articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. Some unpublished data are also presented.

I Jussila, L., Valtola, R., Partanen, T.A., Salven, P., Heikkilä, P., Matikainen, M-T., Renkonen, R., Kaipainen, A., Detmar, M., Tschachler, E., Alitalo, R. and Alitalo K.: Lymphatic endothelium and Kaposi's sarcoma spindle cells detected by antibodies against the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3. *Cancer Res.* 58:1599-1604, 1998.

II Dumont, D.\*, Jussila, L\*, Taipale, J.\*, Mustonen, T., Pajusola, K., Breitman, M. and Alitalo, K: Cardiovascular failure in mouse embryos deficient in VEGF receptor-3. *Science* 282: 946-949, 1998.

III Veikkola, T.\*, Jussila, L.\*, Jeltsch, M., Thurston<sup>,</sup> G., McDonald<sup>,</sup> D.M., Achen, M.G., Stacker<sup>,</sup> S.A., Alitalo, K.: Signalling via VEGFR-3 is sufficient for lymphangiogenesis in transgenic mice. *EMBO J.* 20:1223-1231, 2001.

**IV** Mandriota, S.J., Jussila, L., Jeltsch, M., Compagni, A., Baetens, D., Prevo, R., Banerji, S., Huarte, J., Montesano, R., Jackson, D.G., Orci, L., Alitalo, K., Christofori, G., Pepper, M.S. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C-mediated lymphangiogenesis promotes tumour metastasis. *EMBO J.* 20:672-682, 2001.

equal contribution

### Abstract

Blood and lymphatic vessels develop in a parallel, but independent manner, and together form the circulatory system allowing the passage of fluid and delivering molecules within the body. Although the lymphatic vessels were discovered 300 years ago, at the same time as the blood circulation was described, the lymphatic system has remained relatively neglected until the present. This is in part due to the difficulties in recognizing these vessels in tissues because of a lack of specific markers. Over the past few years several molecules expressed specifically in the lymphatic endothelial cells have been characterized, and knowledge about the lymphatic system has started to accumulate again.

The VEGF (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor) family of growth factors and receptors is involved in the development and growth of the vascular endothelial system. Two of its family members, VEGF-C and VEGF-D regulate lymphatic endothelial cells via their receptor VEGFR-3. These are the first molecules found to be involved in the biology of the lymphatic vessels, and their discovery has opened new lines of inquiry in the study of lymphatic

endothelial cell regulation. The role of the lymphatic vessels in immune responses and certain pathological conditions can be studied in more detail as the blood and lymphatic vessels seem to be involved in many diseases in a coordinated manner. Discoveries made so far will be helpful in the diagnosis of certain vascular tumors, in the design of specific treatments for lymphedema, and in the efforts to prevent the metastatic tumor

spread via the lymphatic system.

The present study was undertaken to characterize the biological role of growth factors VEGF-C and VEGF-D and their receptor VEGFR-3. VEGFR-3 is shown to have an important role in the embryonic development of the cardiovascular system, before the lymphatic vessels start to form. In adults the expression of VEGFR-3 is mainly restricted to lymphatic endothelial cells, where it serves as a molecular marker for these vessels. In experimental models, VEGF-C and VEGF-D are shown to induce the growth of new lymphatic vessels via VEGFR-3 and this process is also shown to be a critical step in the metastatic processes of the tumor cells.

### **Review of the literature**

#### Blood vessel development

The oxygen and nutrients supplied by the vascular system are crucial for cell function and survival. The cardiovascular system is the first organ system to develop in embryos, as it supplies oxygen and nutrients to the growing tissues. During organogenesis, the proximity of growing cells to the circulation is ensured by the coordinated growth of blood vessels and organ parenchyma. Embryonic vascular development involves a complex series of events during which the endothelial cells differentiate, proliferate, migrate and undergo maturation into an organized network of vessels (158, 159). The first step in the development of the blood vessels is called vasculogenesis, in which endothelial cells are generated from their mesenchymal precursors and spontaneously assemble into tubules that fuse to form the primary vascular plexus of the embryo. Remodelling and expansion of these primary vessels into arteries, veins and capillaries of different sizes is called angiogenesis (Fig. 1). In the yolk sac blood islands, mesenchymal cells give rise to both endothelial and hematopoietic cells (30). These cells organize into clusters consisting of future endothelial cells in the outer laver surrounding the inner hematopoietic cells. The endothelial cells then coalesce with those of the neighboring blood islands to form a primitive honeycomb-like blood vessel network, and the hematopoietic cells differentiate into erythrocytes.

A complex orchestration of molecular regulators is needed for the blood vessels to grow. Sprouting of new vessels from preexisting ones is the most frequent mechanism of angiogenesis in embryos, and it involves several sequential steps (199). The extracellular matrix components are degraded locally by proteases produced by the endothelial cells. This allows the chemotactic migration of endothelial cells towards angiogenic stimuli. The endothelial cells proliferate and form loops, which become perfused with circulating blood. The loops between the vessels can also form by another mechanism called intussusceptive growth, a form of angiogenesis involving the *in situ* remodelling of the vessels by protruding interstitial tissue columns. In this process a large sinusoidal capillary can be divided into smaller capillaries, which then grow separately (158).

While endothelial cells initiate angiogenesis, they cannot complete the process. Newly formed capillary sprouts are fragile and remain susceptible to remodelling as long as they lack appropriate perivascular structures. The maturation of new blood vessels into stable and functional vessels requires the accumulation of a basal lamina and recruitment of pericytes and smooth muscle cells to cover tightly the abluminal side of the vessel (80). The smooth muscle cells provide structural support to the larger vessels and are important regulators of blood flow and pressure by their contractile abilities.

The vascular system is a highly heterogeneous and non-uniform organ system (64, 195, 205). Endothelial cells differ considerably in the arterial, capillary and venous compartments and there is further heterogeneity between the different organs (39). Recent molecular probing of the endothelial cell surface by phage display library panning in vivo has revealed striking molecular specificity for the availability of molecular determinants in different vascular endothelia (164). Endothelial cells in different vessels also have distinct characteristics, such as fenestrations, cell junctions, enzymes and carrier systems. Differentiation of endothelial cells is dependent on interactions with local parenchymal cells in the target tissues. Although it is not always known which factors induce the organotypic differentiation of endothelial cells, the existence of such cellcell interactions seems to be widely accepted.



**Figure 1. Embryonic blood vessel development.** Endothelial precursors, angioblasts, assemble into a primitive network of vessels, which further expand and remodel to form circulatory system. Perivascular structures cover and stabilize the mature vessels. Adapted from Carmeliet (30).

# Physiological and pathological angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is also required for the maintenance of the functional and structural integrity of tissues during post-natal life. Vasculogenesis is probably restricted to early development, while new vessels in adults appear to be formed by angiogenesis (30). However, adults are apparently able to mobilize bone marrow-derived endothelial precursor cells for angiogenesis (156). In healthy adults the endothelial cell turnover is usually very low and the vascular endothelia is maintained in quiescence by a balance of positive and negative regulators of angiogenesis. Angiogenesis is limited to sites where the metabolic demands of the tissue are such that new blood vessels are needed. Cells suffering from hypoxia start to release angiogenic factors in order to establish better contact with the circulating blood. In wound healing, fracture repair, inflammation, folliculogenesis and ovulation during the menstrual cycle, as well as in situations of ischemia, the positive regulators predominate,

leading to the activation of angiogenic mechanisms (59).

In contrast to developmental angiogenesis, angiogenesis in adults originates mostly in mature blood vessels. In embryos endothelial cells are loosely connected and actively growing, whereas in adults they are quiescent and encapsulated by a thick mural coat. Therefore the blood vessels must first become destabilized to allow new growth. In contrast to angiogenesis in embryos, there is often inflammation associated with adult angiogenesis, attracting monocytes/macrophages, platelets, mast cells and other leukocytes. Angiogenesis results in a higher capillary density, but also the larger vessels are modified by the lack of an adequate oxygen supply. In the case of acute or chronic occlusion of a major artery (coronary, femoral artery), preexisting arteriolar connections can be recruited to bypass the site of occlusion. Arteriogenesis produces rapid growth of the preexisting collateral vessels, which are not perfused with blood under normal flow conditions. These vessels have the ability to dramatically

increase their lumen by proliferation of endothelial and smooth muscle cells (26).

One of the most extensively studied forms of pathological angiogenesis is tumor angiogenesis (58). Like normal cells, tumor cells need to be located at a close distance from the blood vessels serving the metabolic demands of the growing tumor. The stage in tumor development, when a solid tumor grows beyond a few millimeters in diameter and starts to generate its own microcirculation is called the angiogenic switch (60). It means the transition of an avascular tumor to a tumor with its own blood supply. At this stage the endothelial cells transit from a quiescent into an angiogenic state. The positive regulators are induced and negative regulators often decrease. Tumor blood vessels are leaky and immature, at least partly because the pericytes and smooth muscle cells are usually poorly recruited to the tumors (58). These vessels resemble angiogenic vessels in other settings, such as in wound healing, with the exception that tumor vessels do not mature properly and some of the endothelial cells in the tumor vessels are replaced by tumor cells (35). Angiogenesis also takes place in other pathological conditions such as proliferative retinopathy, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and juvenile hemangioma (59).

#### Lymphangiogenesis

Lymphatic vessels are also part of the vascular circulatory system. The lymphatic system comprises of an extensive network of capillaries, collecting vessels and ducts that permeates most of the organs (165). Unlike the blood vasculature, which forms a continuous loop, the lymphatic system is an open ended, one-way transit system. It assists in maintaining the blood volume, carries cells, interstitial fluid components and metabolites that leak from the capillaries and returns them to the venous circulation via the thoracic duct.

The lymphatic vessels also form part of the immune system by continuously circulating the white blood cells within the lymphoid organs (spleen, tonsils, thymus, Peyer patches and lymph nodes) and bone marrow and

transporting antigen-presenting cells. Mononuclear phagocytes and also lymphocytes patrolling the tissues enter the afferent lymph vessels and the lymph nodes to elicit primary immune responses before re-entering the vasculature. Endothelial receptors and binding proteins are involved in this trafficking of specific lymphatic cell populations.

Lymphatic vessels start to develop in embryos around midgestation, in parallel with the development of blood vessels and most of the organs. When the embryo grows, these vessels are needed for the regulation of the interstitial tissue pressure. The origin of the lymphatic vessels has long been controversial. Historically, the best accepted view of lymphatic development is the one proposed by Sabin (166, 167). Sabin proposed that early in fetal development, isolated primitive lymph sacs originate by endothelial cell budding from embryonic veins. Sabin's model proposes that the peripherial lymphatic system then spreads from these primary lymph sacs by endothelial sprouting into the surrounding tissues and organs where local lymphatic capillaries form. An alternative model has suggested that the initial lymph sacs arise in the mesenchyme from precursor cells independent of the veins and secondarily establish venous connections (85). Although recent reports about the development of the lymphatic vessels support Sabin's theory (44, 198), the existence of primitive lymphangioblasts, which can be recruited by the developing lymphatic vessels has been shown at least in avian species (171). One should thus note, that a combination of the two mechanisms is possible, whereby centrifugally sprouting lymphatic vessels anastomose with lymphatics developing from lymphangioblasts in tissues.

The lymphatic vessels differ in many ways from the blood vessels, but they also share many properties. Both vascular systems are lined by the endothelium and the larger vessels are supported by a smooth muscle framework, particularly around luminal valves, which are present in the veins and in the large lymphatics (203). The smooth muscle layer in blood vessels controls the contractile tone of the vessels in response to vasoactive substances. Blood vessels have a continuos or fenestrated basement membrane and tight interendothelial junctions, which make the vessel wall selectively permeable to cells, fluids and molecules, whereas lymphatic vessels have a relatively free import for interstitial fluid. Lymphatic endothelial cells have complex overlapping intercellular junctions and specialized anchoring filaments, which hold the vessel open as tissue pressure rises (203). It has been suggested that these properties provide the lymphatics with a second valvular function (189). Liquid, macromolecules and migrating cells pass through the blood capillary endothelia, enter the tissues and are gradually absorbed into the lymphatic system. The fluid is transported via the lymphatic capillaries into the collecting vessels and through the lymph nodes, returning eventually to the circulation.



**Figure 2. Structure of the blood (left) and lymphatic (right) capillaries.** Lymphatic vessels resemble blood vessels but are thinner-walled and more irregular and allow relatively free import of interstitial fluid and macromolecules. Blood vessels are supported by the perivascular smooth muscle cells whereas typical for the lymphatic vessels are specific anchoring filaments (af), which attach the vessels to the surrounding tissue.

# Molecular regulation of blood and lymphatic vessels

Intercellular signalling mechanisms which govern the formation of blood and lymphatic vessels have emerged relatively recently. The complexity of endothelial cells indicates that its regulation must involve manv developmental tissue-specific and differentiation factors. Angiogenic signals are mediated by a number of growth factors and cytokines, and the balance between the positive and negative regulators maintains the adult vessels in a quiescent state (reviewed in (76)). Whenever the balance is disturbed the vessels react either by activating the angiogenic responses or regress by apoptosis when sufficient growth signals are not present. Interaction of angiogenic growth factors with their target cells triggers a cascade leading to the formation of blood vessels. Less is known about the regulation of

the lymphatic vessels, although similar mechanisms seem to be involved.

Blood vessel development depends on members of the Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) family of proteins. This family consist of VEGF, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E and PIGF (placenta growth factor), which bind and activate cell surface receptors and regulate endothelial cell growth and differentiation (Fig.3) (96). The VEGFR family includes VEGFR-1 (also known as Flt-1), VEGFR-2 (Flk-1 / KDR) and VEGFR-3 (Flt-4) tyrosine kinase receptors. Neuropilins 1 and 2 (NRP-1/-2) are another class of high affinity non-tyrosine kinase receptors for VEGFs on endothelial and neuronal cell surfaces (138, 151). Recently, additional molecules similar to VEGF and capable of increasing capillary permeability were found in snake venom, suggesting that the family may be even larger (67, 105). The receptors have partly overlapping but independent roles in the vascular development and maintenance. The expression levels of these genes modulate the abundance of different types of vessels in tissues. Other factors that are involved in the regulation of blood and lymphatic vessels, are the angiopoietins (Ang), ephrins and plateletderived growth factors (PDGFs), which all act together in a co-ordinated manner during vessel formation (18, 30, 64). Interestingly, certain highly differentiated endothelia may have additional structurally unrelated regulators, such as EG-VEGF (112).



**Figure 3. Receptor binding specificity of VEGFs.** Growth factors activating VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 mediate the angiogenic signals, whereas lymphangiogenesis is mainly obtained via VEGFR-3.

#### VEGF

VEGF, discovered in 1989, is a major mediator of both vasculogenesis and angiogenesis (reviewed in (53)). In endothelial cells VEGF binds to VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 (52). VEGF is expressed as several isoforms consisting of polypeptides of different sizes (121, 145, 165, 183, 189 and 206 amino acid residues), which are all formed from the same gene by alternative splicing. They differ in their ability to interact with extracellular matrix components and with NRP-1 (41, 83, 145, 178, 186). These isoforms are thought to have distinct, but overlapping functions in angiogenesis. VEGF is also known as vascular permeability factor, as it promotes the extravasation of fluid and plasma proteins, including fibrin, from the blood vessels (45, 172). The increase in microvascular permeability and tissue deposition of fibrin is considered to enhance the migration of endothelial cells in the extracellular matrix (46).

VEGF is essential for embryonic vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Inactivation of only a single VEGF allele in mice resulted in embryonic lethality due to defective angiogenesis (31, 54). Also a reduced number of hematopoietic cells was observed. In mutant mice lacking the 164 and 188 amino acid isoforms of VEGF, half of the mice did not survive due to defects in for example postnatal angiogenesis in the myocardium, suggesting that the other forms of VEGF cannot completely replace the action of the others (34). Partial inhibition of VEGF by a soluble extracellular form of VEGFR-1 resulted in increased mortality and impaired organ development in the early postnatal period (69). It was shown that in addition to proliferation, VEGF is also required for the survival of endothelial cells. Consistent with this, other studies have also shown that VEGF supports the survival of endothelial cells by inducing the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins in endothelial cells (6, 14, 70).

VEGF is important in the etiology of several diseases characterized by pathological angiogenesis such as psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and proliferative retinopathy (reviewed in (53)). Consistent with this, the expression of VEGF is potentiated in response to hypoxia and by activated oncogenes as well as by a variety of cytokines (74, 157, 174). Upregulated VEGF expression contributes to the development of solid tumors by promoting tumor angiogenesis (59). Tumor inhibition studies with neutralizing anti-VEGF antibodies suggested that other angiogenic factors may also be involved (102). However, the VEGF signalling pathway is currently considered as one of the most promising targets for the inhibition of tumor angiogenesis.

#### VEGF-B

VEGF-B is structurally closely related to VEGF and binds one of its receptors, VEGFR-1 (136). It has two splice variants, isoforms of 167 and 186 amino acids. They differ in binding to heparan sulphates in extracellular matrix and to NRP-1 (124). Both VEGF-B isoforms are able to form heterodimers with VEGF, and perhaps with other growth factors. This adds diversity to their biological roles by allowing a variety of combinations for cellular signal transduction.

VEGF-B is produced in large quantities by the developing myocardium and by muscle, bone, pancreas, adrenal gland, and the smooth muscle cell layer of several large vessels, but not by endothelial cells (1). VEGF-B is likely to act in a paracrine fashion as its receptor is almost exclusively located on endothelial cells. VEGF-B is a very weak endothelial cell mitogen when produced in mammalian cells (136), but otherwise its biological role is still unclear. Mice lacking a functional VEGF-B gene are healthy and fertile, but depending on the genetic background may have a conduction defect or reduced heart size (2, 13). The knockout mice display a striking vascular dysfunction after coronary occlusion and they show impaired recovery from experimentally induced myocardial ischemia (13). Considering such results, it is interesting to note that while VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 were expressed rather uniformly in the developing vasculature, only VEGFR-1 was prominently expressed in the human fetal coronary endothelium (148). These results suggest a role for VEGF-B in the coronary vasculature and potential clinical use in therapeutic angiogenesis.

#### PIGF

PIGF was discovered in the human placenta and it is about 50% homologous to VEGF (121). PIGF binds to VEGFR-1 and its heparin binding isoform, PIGF-2, also binds to NRP-1 (28, 129, 144). Binding of PlGF to VEGFR-1 is considered to increase the proportion of VEGF available to activate VEGFR-2 thereby potentiating the angiogenic properties of VEGF (144). A lack of PIGF has no major effect embryonic development, even in on combination with a loss of VEGF-B (33). However, loss of PIGF impairs angiogenesis associated with tumors, ischemia, myocardial infarcts and experimental retinopathy, and leads to prolonged healing of incisional skin wounds (33). During collateral growth after ligation of the femoral artery, PIGF was found to be essential for plasma extravasation,

monocyte recruitment and for the growth of endothelial and smooth muscle cells. These results indicate that PIGF activates membrane bound VEGFR-1 and specifically potentiates the angiogenic response to VEGF. In contrast to the essential role of VEGF in physiological and pathological angiogenesis, the role of PIGF is restricted to pathological vessel formation.

#### VEGF-C and VEGF-D

VEGF-C was cloned from human prostate carcinoma cells and its mature form consisting of the VEGF homology domain is 30% identical to VEGF<sub>165</sub> (90). VEGF-C is synthesized as a preproprotein from which a stepwise proteolytic processing generates several forms, with sequentially increasing binding and activity for its receptors, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 (Fig. 4) (91). Like VEGF, VEGF-C stimulates the migration of endothelial cells, and increases vascular permeability and endothelial cell proliferation but at higher concentrations than VEGF. These signals for endothelial cells are probably mediated through VEGFR-2 in blood vascular endothelial cells and generally via VEGFR-3 in the lymphatic endothelial cells (91, 93). Unlike VEGF, the expression of VEGF-C does not appear to be regulated by hypoxia (49), but is increased in response to proinflammatory cytokines suggesting a role in inflammatory responses (160). The pattern of VEGF-C expression in embryos suggests that it plays a role in the development of the lymphatic vessels, since a paracrine expression pattern is seen between VEGF-C and VEGFR-3 at sites where the first lymphatic sprouts occur (108). Conversely, VEGF-C is already expressed before the emergence of the lymphatics, which also suggests the involvement in vasculogenesis/angiogenesis during early development.

VEGF-C regulates physiological and pathological blood vessel growth *in vivo*. It is able to stimulate angiogenesis in the mouse cornea and in limb ischemia (29, 204). On the other hand, VEGF-C has been shown to regulate the growth of lymphatic vessels in various experimental models. Overexpression of VEGF-C in skin keratinocytes leads to

dermal lymphatic vessel hyperplasia (88). Signalling via VEGFR-3 alone was shown to be sufficient for the lymphangiogenesis, since transgenic mice overexpressing a mutant form of VEGF-C, which has lost its capacity to bind VEGFR-2 and only binds and activates VEGFR-3 (VEGF-C156S (89)), was able to induce a similar phenotype (194). VEGF-C was also studied in the mature, differentiated chorioallantoic membrane (CAM), that contains lymphatic vessels mainly around arterioles and veins (134). In this assay, VEGF-C acts as a highly specific lymphangiogenic factor. However, when VEGF-C was applied to the early CAM, where the lymphatics have not yet developed, it promoted angiogenesis. The angiogenic vs. lymphangiogenic responses to VEGF-C may depend on the degree of proteolytic processing of its precursor, and on the expression of it receptors in the blood vs. lymphatic endothelial cells of the target tissue. VEGF-C also has synergistic effects with VEGF, during the induction of angiogenesis, and this effect is more prominent in cells expressing both of its receptors (150). In addition, VEGF-C can compete with VEGF in binding to VEGFR-2.

VEGF-D (also known as c-fos-induced growth factor or FIGF) is the most recently discovered member of the mammalian VEGF family (3). It shares 61% sequence identity with VEGF-C and these two growth factors bind to the same receptors on human endothelial cells. VEGF-D is proteolytically processed similarly to VEGF-C and the proteolytic processing also appears to regulate VEGF-D biological activity and receptor specificity (181). Interestingly, in mice VEGF-D binds only to VEGFR-3, suggesting that VEGF-D may have a somewhat different function in mouse and man (9). This is uncommon within the VEGF family as these homologous and evolutionary conserved growth factors are assumed to exhibit similar receptor binding characteristics in different species. VEGF-D has been shown to be able to stimulate the proliferation of endothelial cells, and shows angiogenic properties in vitro and in vivo (127). Like VEGF-C, it was also shown to be lymphangiogenic when overexpressed in skin keratinocytes (194). Little is known about the expression of VEGF-D in physiological conditions, but its mRNA has been observed in the developing melanocytes and fibroblasts, lung mesenchyme and in the adult vascular wall (4).



**Figure 4. Proteolytic processing of the VEGF-C and VEGF-D protein.** The growth factors are synthesized as prepropeptides containing N- and C- terminal propeptides (N and C) and a VEGF-homology domain (VHD). Proteolytic processing generates several forms with increased binding towards VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3. This may regulate the angiogenic and lymphangiogenic properties of the VEGF-C and VEGF-D.

#### VEGF-E

A VEGF homologue, VEGF-E, was recently discovered in the genome of the parapoxvirus, Orf virus, that infects sheep, goats, and occasionally humans (120). Infection by this virus causes proliferative skin lesions in which extensive capillary proliferation and dilation are prominent histological features. Several strains of the virus encode different VEGF-E variants, which bind specifically to VEGFR-2 and NRP-1 and are able to stimulate endothelial cell mitogenesis and vascular permeability (133, 201). VEGF-E is not essential for viral replication but rather plays an important role in modulating the host environment during infection.

#### VEGFR-1 & VEGFR-2

VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 are important in blood vascular endothelial cell proliferation, migration and survival. Mice carrying a homozygous disruption in either of the two VEGF receptors die during early development due to defects in both vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Embryos lacking functional VEGFR-2 are lacking mature endothelial and hematopoietic cells (173). In contrast, VEGFR-1 deficient mice have normal hematopoietic progenitor cells and endothelial cells that migrate and proliferate but do not assemble into tubes and functional vessels (61). More recent studies have shown that an excessive proliferation of endothelial progenitors is the main factor leading to this disorganization (62). This supports the view that VEGFR-1 is a negative regulator of VEGF-induced vasculogenesis in embryos.

VEGFR-1 alone has been shown to induce weak mitogenic signals in vitro (110), but it is thought that VEGFR-2 is the major receptor transducing the effects of VEGF in endothelial cells. For example, VEGF-E and site-directed mutants of VEGF, which bind only to VEGFR-2, stimulate endothelial cells similarly to VEGF (70, 101, 128, 201). VEGF also provides survival signals for endothelial cells via VEGFR-2 (70). Outside of the vascular system, VEGFR-1 is expressed in monocytes and macrophages, placental throphoblasts and renal mesangial cells, and VEGFR-2 in hematopoietic stem cells, megakaryocytes, platelets, retinal progenitor cells and in circulating endothelial precursor cells (11, 36, 38, 98, 207, 208). Despite the importance of these receptors during embryonic blood vessel development, VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 appear to be downregulated in the quiescent adult endothelium.

#### VEGFR-3

VEGFR-3 was cloned from a human leukemia cell line and from human placenta (65, 142). Two isoforms of VEGFR-3 have been described, designated VEGFR-3s (short) and VEGFR-3l (long), which differ as a result of alternative splicing. The long form is the predominant form in most tissues. An endogenous retroviral genome appears responsible for the short isoform in humans, but this form is missing from mice (84). VEGFR-3 is initially expressed in all embryonic vasculature, but during development its expression in blood vessels decreases and becomes restricted to the developing lymphatic vessels (93). VEGFR-3 deficient embryos die as a result of a defect in the remodelling of the primary vascular network and cardiovascular failure at midgestation, before the lymphatic vessels start to develop (44). In adults the expression of VEGFR-3 is mainly restricted to lymphatic endothelial cells, where it serves as a molecular marker for these vessels (92, 93). These results suggest that VEGFR-3 plays a dual role, in embryos in cardiovascular development and in adults in the regulation of the lymphatic vessels.

In adults, VEGFR-3 is expressed in a subset of capillary and venous endothelium, although it is absent in endothelia of all large blood vessels (147). VEGFR-3 is re-activated in the blood vessel endothelium in certain pathological conditions and upregulation of VEGF-C/VEGF-D ligands may accompany this (4, 168, 193). Similarly, VEGFR-2 can be expressed by both blood vascular and lymphatic endothelia (148). During wound healing, acute inflammation is followed by the deposition of fibrin and connective tissue and the growth of blood vessels into the granulation tissue. Most blood vessels then regress as the wound is remodelled into scar tissue. VEGFR-3 positive lymphatic vessels have been observed to sprout from preexisting lymphatics and grow into the granulation tissue in healing skin wounds (141). These lymphatic vessels persisted in the wound for some time but regressed as the healing proceeded. This suggests that transient lymphangiogenesis is needed during wound healing, in parallel with angiogenesis. On the other hand, no lymphatic vessels were seen in chronic human wounds (141). The absence of lymphatic vessels may contribute to the impaired healing in these conditions. The angiogenic vessels in wound healing remained negative for VEGFR-3, suggesting that there are differences in the regulation of angiogenesis in various pathological conditions.

Little is known about the characteristic features of lymphatic endothelial cells, mainly because isolated lymphatic endothelial cells have not been available for molecular studies. Recently, primary cultures of human dermal endothelial cells were shown to consist of distinct lines of blood vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells (106, 125). Cells of the lymphatic lineage could be isolated by antibodies against VEGFR-3 or podoplanin. Signalling via VEGFR-3 was shown to be critical for growth, migration, and survival of the isolated lymphatic endothelial cells (125). Also VEGFR-2 was detected in the lymphatic endothelial cells, suggesting that activation of both VEGF-C receptors may be required for their maximal survival (125, 148).

#### Neuropilins

NRP-1 and NRP-2 are transmembrane receptor proteins that are required for axon guidance and, according to recent discoveries, also for the regulation of angiogenesis (72, 177, 178). Both neuropilins bind certain isoforms of VEGF, VEGF-B, VEGF-E and PlGF-2 (124, 129, 178, 201). NRP-1 is expressed in the tips of actively growing axons of particular classes of neurons (63), but also in the blood vascular endothelial cells and in certain tumor cells (177, 178). NRP-1 enhances VEGF<sub>165</sub> binding to VEGFR-2 and VEGF-mediated chemotaxis. Embryos lacking functional NRP-1 die due to defects in VEGF mediated angiogenesis and subsequent cardiovascular failure (99) and ectopic overexpression of NRP-1 leads to an excess of dilated blood vessels and hemorrhage, apparently due to inappropriate VEGF activity (104). Mice having targeted deletion of NRP-2 are viable, but have defects in the development of central and peripheral nervous systems (37, 71). Recently, NRP-2 has been shown to bind VEGF-C and to be expressed together with VEGFR-3 in the endothelial cells of a sub-population of the lymphatic vessels (94).

#### Angiopoietins and Tie-Receptors

Tie-1 and Tie-2 (Tek) are expressed in endothelial cells throughout embryonic development as well as in hematopoietic progenitor cells (42). Gene targeting experiments indicate that Tie-1 and Tie-2 are essential to the angiogenic expansion of the vasculature during development. In mouse embryos lacking the Tie-2 receptor endothelial cells are present in slightly reduced numbers and are assembled into tubes, but the vessels remain immature, lacking branching networks and proper organization into a hierarchy of large and small vessels (43, 169). The vessels lack intimate encapsulation by periendothelial support cells, and the endocardium is only loosely attached to the myocardium. Thus Tie-2 appears to control the capability of endothelial cells to recruit stromal cells, which stabilize the vessel structure and modulate the function of blood vessels (76). Tie-1 is required cell autonomously for endothelial cell survival and extension of the vascular network during the later part of embryogenesis (155, 169). Vasculogenesis proceeds normally in embryos lacking both Tie-1 and Tie-2, since the angioblasts differentiate normally (154). It appears that one of the earliest critical functions of these receptors concerns endocardial development, but that rescue of the embryos is possible if one bypasses the critical period using transgenic expression of Tie-2 (Dr. D. Dumont, personal communication).

Ang-1 and Ang-2 bind to Tie-2 with similar affinities, but only Ang-1 can activate the receptor directly. Ang-2 is capable of inhibiting the effects of Ang-1 in endothelial cells in short-term experiments. However, if endothelial cells of human umbilical vein are stimulated with Ang-2 for longer periods, activation of the Tie-2 receptor is obtained (185). Ang-2 is also capable of stimulating Tie-2 in transfected nonendothelial cells. Thus, Ang-2 has both agonistic and antagonistic properties, which may relate to its ability to dimerize or oligomerize less efficiantly than Ang-1, or to binding to an inhibitor that needs to be downregulated. Ang-1 is widely expressed in both embryonic and adult tissues (184). Ang-2 is also expressed in embryos around large vessels, but in adults the expression pattern is restricted to sites of physiological angiogenesis, where vascular remodelling occurs (122). Transgenic overexpression of Ang-2 under the Tie-2 promoter in the embryonic endothelium indicates that Ang-2 inhibits the recruitment of supporting perivascular cells, resulting in a phenotype similar to that of the Ang-1 knockout embryos (184). In adults, Ang-2 allows vascular remodelling, which otherwise is restricted by encapsulation by the basement membrane and periendothelial support cells. When the expression of Ang-1 overcomes that of Ang-2, such remodelling ceases and vessels stabilize (reviewed in (64)).

Several lines of evidence indicate that there is significant collaboration between VEGF, Ang-2

and Ang-1 in angiogenic processes. Vascular regression is associated with very high levels of Ang-2 in the absence of activating survival signals from VEGF. In the skin of transgenic mice VEGF increases the number of capillaries, whereas Ang-1 causes a massive enlargement of postcapillary venules (188). Interestingly, Ang-1 was able to rescue the permeability effects of VEGF (187). Coexpression of both factors was required to obtain an increased number of large vessels in transgenic mice. Identification of the ligand(s) for the Tie-1 receptor should provide further insights into the mechanistic basis for this asymmetric regulation of vascular development. Ang-2 may also be involved in the regulation of lymphatic vessels, since knock out mice lacking functional Ang-2 have chylous ascites with a disorganized and leaky vasculature lymphatic (personal communication with Dr. G. Thurston and Dr. G. Yancopoulos).

#### Table 1.

Summary of the biological roles of VEGFs, VEGFRs, TIEs and Angiopoietins

Gene	Phenotype in gene deficient mice	Lethal	Biological role
VEGF	defective blood vessel development and blood islands (31, 54)	-/- E8-9 +/- E11-12	vasculogenesis, developmental and pathological angiogenesis
VEGF-B	<ol> <li>normal heart development (2)</li> <li>or</li> <li>2) defective heart development (13)</li> </ol>	Viable	modulates biological activity of VEGF (?)
PIGF	normal vascular development (33)	Viable	pathological angiogenesis, amplifies responsiveness to VEGF
VEGFR-1	disorganization of vascular system, increased number of endothelial precursors (61, 62)	E 8.5	negative regulator of VEGF- mediated angiogenesis ? monocyte recruitment
VEGFR-2	no mature endothelial or hematopoietic cells (173)	E 8.5- 9.5	hemangioblast differentiation, proliferation and migration, vascular permeability
VEGFR-3	pericardial effusion, defective large blood vessels (44)	E 9.5- 10.5	vascular remodelling, migration and survival of lymphatic ECs
NRP-1	anomalies in cardiovascular system and efferent nerve fibers (99, 104)	E12.5	axon quidance in PNS, cardiovascular development, enhances effect of VEGF <sub>165</sub>
NRP-2	defects in the development of central and peripheral nerves (37, 71)	Viable	axon quidance
Ang-1	fewer branches, homogeneously sized vessels, defects in endocardium and myocardium (184)	E12.5	recruitment of perivascular cells, vessel stabilization
Tie-1	defective angiogenic expansion and integrity of vessels (155, 169)	E10.5	vascular network formation, survival of EC
Tie-2	defects in maturation and organization of blood vessels (169)	E10.5	recruitment of perivascular cells, vessel stabilization

EC; endothelial cell, PNS; periferal nervous system

#### **PDGFs**

The platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) family consist of homodimers or heterodimers

made from the pairwise assembly of the related PDGF polypeptide chains (reviewed in (79)). These effects of the PDGFs depend on the target cell type, in particular on the cell's

repertoire of PDGF receptors,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . The  $\alpha$ receptor can bind PDGF-A, PDGF-B and PDGF-C chains, whereas the  $\beta$ -receptor is selective for the PDGF-B and PDGF-D chains (16, 18, 115). Based on the gene deficient studies, both receptors are essential for embryonic development. PDGF-A and PDGFR- $\alpha$  are prominently expressed at sites of epitheliummesenchyme interaction, whereas PDGF-B takes part in blood vessel development (81, 116, 140). PDGF-D is the first known PDGFR- $\beta$ specific ligand, and its unique receptor specificity indicates that it may be important in the development and pathophysiology of several organs. The expression of PDGF-C and PDGF-D in the arterial wall and cultured vascular cells suggests that they can transduce proliferation/migration signals to pericytes and smooth muscle cells (192).

During blood vessel development, PDGF-B is expressed in endothelial cells, while pericytes and smooth muscle cells covering the blood vessels express PDGFR- $\beta$ , indicating paracrine signalling between these two cell types (81, 116). Targeted gene disruption studies of PDGF-B or PDGFR- $\beta$  gave similar phenotypes. In both mouse strains, blood vessel development was deficient because of the inability of blood vessels to attract pericytes (80, 81, 116). Also the development of the renal and hematopoietic systems were affected (114, 179). Lack of pericytes in embryonic angiogenesis leads to hyperplasia of endothelial cells, supporting the notion that pericytes inhibit endothelial cell proliferation (80). Smooth muscle cell proliferation in response to the release of growth factors from neighboring cells is one mechanism postulated to account for the development of atherosclerotic lesions. PDGFs may be involved in initiation and progression of atherosclerotic changes in arterial intima by promoting proliferation of smooth muscle cells of the vascular wall (17, 130). These molecules may also have an important role in tumor biology, since expression of the mRNA of the receptors and ligands has been observed in wide variety of human tumors (79).

#### Ephrins

Before the heart starts to beat and circulate blood, the vascular hierarchy must be organized and arteries and veins must be ready to properly transport blood. In studies of the ephrin family of molecules it has become obvious that the fate of endothelial cell is already marked in early embryonic development when the whole endothelium is still rather uniform in nature (reviewed in (205)). Unlike ligands for other receptor tyrosine kinases, the ephrins cannot act as soluble mediators, but rather must be membrane-bound in order to activate their receptors. Interestingly, bidirectional signalling was observed between the ligand and receptor. Ephrin-B2 was shown to mark future arteries while its receptor Eph-B4 reciprocally marks the venous endothelium (195). Furthermore, embryos lacking Ephrin-B2 displayed severe defects in vascular remodelling in both arterial and venous domains. These findings provide some of the earliest known markers distinguishing the arterial and venous endothelia. This data for the first time shows the existence of bidirectional signalling between these vessel types. This suggests that the molecular differences are at least partly programmed genetically in arterial vs. venous endothelia and that these differences may be critical to normal development of the vasculature.

#### Markers for the lymphatic vessels

A major advance in the field of lymphangiogenesis has come from the discovery of lymphatic endothelium-specific markers (Table 2). In addition to VEGFR-3, other molecules have now been found to express relatively specifically in lymphatic endothelial cells. Podoplanin is a glomerular podocyte membrane mucoprotein, which occurs together with VEGFR-3 in the lymphatic endothelium and in benign vascular tumors and angiosarcomas, but is also expressed in certain non-endothelial cells (22, 23). Prox-1, a homeobox transcription factor, is involved in the sprouting of lymphatic vessels from embryonic veins during development (198). Prox-1 is also expressed in nonendothelial cells. The third marker, LYVE-1 (Lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronan-receptor-1), is a receptor for extracellular matrix/lymphatic fluid glycosaminoglycan in lymphatic endothelial cells (10). This molecule, which is related to the CD44 receptor for hyaluronan, is distributed equally among the luminal and abluminal surfaces of lymphatic vessels and is involved in the uptake of hyaluronan by lymphatic endothelial cells and its transport from the tissues to the lymph (153).

Recently, a  $\beta$ -chemokine receptor D6 was shown to be present in a subset of lymphatic vessels in the skin, intestine and lymphoid tissues (131). Interestingly, lymphatic vessels in most of the organs remained negative for its expression. The existence of this receptor on only a subset of lymphatics suggests a functional heterogeneity within the lymphatic vasculature. Consistent with this, recent findings revealed the co-expression of NRP-2 and VEGFR-3 in lymphatic vessel endothelia of the intestine, whereas dermal lymphatic vessels did not show NRP-2 expression (94). The mannose receptor of macrophages is also expressed by lymphatic endothelia in addition to macrophages and other non-endothelial cells (117). The biological role of this receptor in lymphatic vessels is not known, but it may play a role in inflammation and immunity.

5'-nucleotidase and desmoplakin have also been used to distinguish the lymphatic from the blood vascular endothelium (170, 191) and since lymphatic capillaries lack a continuous basement membrane, immunohistochemistry for extracellular matrix components type IV collagen and laminin have also been used to distinguish them from blood capillaries (12). VEGFR-2 is occasionally expressed in lymphatic endothelia (148) and Tie-1 and Tie-2 may also have a role in lymphatic vessel regulation, as they also appear in lymphatic endothelia (92, 148) and mice deficient for the Ang-2 have a lymphatic phenotype (unpublished data of G. Thurston and G. Yancopoulos).

Molecule	Protein class	Biological effect
VEGFR-3	receptor tyrosine kinase on	lymphangiogenesis,
	endothelial cell (92, 93)	survival of LEC
LYVE-1	receptor for extracellular	transport of HA from tissues to
	matrix glycosaminoglycan (10)	lymph nodes
PROX1	transcription factor (198)	developmental lymphangiogenesis
Podoplanin	integral membrane protein (23)	unknown
$\beta$ -chemokine	chemokine receptor in afferent	leukocyte recirculation
receptor D6	lymphatics (131)	
Macrophage	receptor in macrophages (117)	phagocytosis of microbes,
mannose receptor		viral endocytosis
Desmoplakin	component of intercellular	adhesion of LECs
	adhering junction (170)	

#### Table 2. Markers for the lymphatic vessels

LEC; lymphatic endothelial cell, HA; hyaluronan

#### Diseases of the lymphatic vessels

Pathological processes similar to those that affect blood vessels, such as thrombosis, inflammation, vessel wall hypertrophy, and sclerosis may also occur to some extent in lymphatic vessels. However, the slow flow of the lymphatic fluid makes lymphatic disorders more chronic in character (203). Lymphatic vessel defects are associated with intense fibrosis and overgrowth rather than the dramatic occlusive events such as occur in blood vessels when the blood flow is interrupted.

#### Lymphedema

An important function of the lymphatic vessels is to regulate the pressure of interstitial fluid in tissues by transporting excess fluid back into the circulation. Clinical situations in which the lymphatic system is involved include lymphedema due to impaired lymphatic drainage. This can be caused by inflammatory or neoplastic obstruction of the lymphatic vessels including accumulation of ascites fluid due to lymphatic obstruction in peritoneal carcinomatosis or edema of the arm following surgery or radiotherapy for breast cancer. Lymphatic filariasis is one of the leading causes of permanent and longterm disability globally. It is a parasitic infection in the lymphatic vessels, which leads to abnormal transport function, massive edema and deformation of the limbs (203).

Primary lymphedema is a rare developmental disorder, in which the transport failure of the cutaneus lymphatic vessels results in interstitial lymph fluid accumulation. Chronic lymphatic dysfunction gradually results in thickening of the skin, accumulation of adipose tissue and dermal fibrosis of the affected area (113). Recently, several groups have reported linkage of congenital lymphedema (Milroy's disease) to the VEGFR-3 gene (50, 57, 202) with autosomal dominant inheritance. This mutation was shown to lead to reduced VEGFR-3 tyrosine kinase activity, and subsequent failure in transducing sufficient physiological VEGF-C/VEGF-D signals to the lymphatic endothelial cells (95). In all lymphedema families studied, the affected individuals had only one mutant allele (86, 95), compatible with the results that inactivation of both VEGFR-3 alleles in mice is embryonic lethal (44). The mutation affecting the biological activity of VEGFR-3 is probably one cause of primary lymphedema, but some other lymphedema genes also exist, for example FOXC2 (51).

#### Kaposi's sarcoma

Kaposi's sarcoma is a multicentric neoplasm consisting of multiple vascular nodules appearing in the skin, mucous membranes, and viscera. Individuals with specific conditions of immunodysregulation, especially AIDS patients, develop these tumors. Molecular and epidemiological studies indicate that development of Kaposi's sarcoma is associated with infection by the human herpesvirus-8 (HHV-8) (183). The nodules are characterized by clusters of spindle-shaped tumor cells and by prominent vasculature consisting of small, irregular, endotheliallined spaces. It is thought not to be a neoplastic transformation of cells in the classic sense, but rather a manifestation of excessive proliferation of the spindle cells. A central question in the pathogenesis of Kaposi's sarcoma has long been, which cell type in early lesions gives rise to the uniform tumor cells of late nodules (66). The spindle cells are most likely endothelial in origin, but there has been controversy as to whether they are of lymphatic or blood vascular derivation.

#### Vascular tumors

Vascular tumors can be divided into benign tumors (hemangioma) and malignant vascular tumors (angiosarcoma) and to the tumors of lymphatic vessels (lymphangioma) and perivascular cells (glomus tumors and hemangiopericytoma). The molecular characteristics of these tumors are so far mostly unknown but VEGF and its receptors have been shown to be expressed in the endothelial cells of these tumors (162). Although normal mesenchymal tissues show VEGFR-3 in the lymphatic endothelial cells, benign and malignant vascular tumors show widespread VEGFR-3 expression, suggesting that VEGFR-3 is upregulated in the proliferating blood vascular endothelial cells. This is consistent with the VEGFR-3 expression in the embryonic developing vessels, as well as reactivation in adult angiogenic blood vessels (44, 193). Although strong expression of VEGFR-3 would be consistent with lymphatic differentiation, the extensive erythrocyte content in the vascular lumina of

these lesions supports the idea that VEGFR-3 expression in these tumors reflects a proliferative vascular phenotype rather than a lymphatic phenotype. The expression of VEGFR-3 among vascular proliferations demonstrates that blood vessel endothelia can acquire VEGFR-3 expression independently of lymphatic vascular differentiation.

Classification of angiosarcomas is mostly based on morphological criteria. It has been suggested that some of the angiosarcomas contain components of a lymphatic lineage, but there was not proof of this (135). The reactivity for VEGFR-3 was seen in poorly differentiated angiosarcomas, indicating that this receptor is conserved on malignant transformation (146). Some cell populations in angiosarcomas are positive for podoplanin, which retains its lymphatic endothelial cell specificity in vascular tumors, supporting the idea of mixed expression of both blood and lymphatic phenotypes in angiosarcomas (23). Since expression of VEGFR-3 is seen in the majority of benign and malignant vascular tumors, but expression is less consistent in malignant epithelioid vascular tumors and absent in malignancies of nonendothelial origin, VEGFR-3 could be used as a lineage marker to identify endothelial cell differentiation in the tumors. However, further studies are needed to evaluate the sensitivity and specificity of these markers.

Lymphangiomas result from abnormal development of lymphatic vessels which prevents lymph fluid draining from the affected area. Lymphangiomas can originate in most organs, although they are most often found in the soft tissues of the head and neck (cystic hygroma) and axilla. They consist of a benign multicystic mass of dilated networks of lymphatic channels. Both VEGFR-3 and podoplanin specifically stain the endothelia of lymphangiomas and could be used for diagnostic purposes (23, 92, 146).

#### Tumorigenesis and metastasis

Lots of evidence indicates that tumorigenesis is a multistep process, and these steps reflect the genetic alterations that drive the progressive transformation (reviewed in (77)). Whereas normal cells require mitogenic signals before they can move from a quiescent state into an active proliferative stage, malignant cells are self-sufficient for the growth signals, and insensitive to the growthinhibitory signals. Tumor cells generate many of their own growth signals leading to autocrine stimulation, thereby reducing their dependence on stimulation from the normal tissue micro-environment. It has long been thought that tumors are independent from the surrounding cells and their action, but now it seems more likely that cancer development depends upon interactions between tumor cells and their benign neighbors. Tumors and metastases tend to harbor complex mixtures of several cell types that collaborate to create a malignant growth, including fibroblasts, immune cells and endothelial cells (58, 77).

The cells within aberrant proliferative lesions initially lack angiogenic ability, preventing their expansion. The ability to induce and sustain angiogenesis seems to be acquired in discrete steps during tumor development via an angiogenic switch from vascular guiescence to proliferation (77). In studies of transgenic mouse tumorigenesis, angiogenesis was found to be activated in midstage lesions prior to the appearance of full-blown tumors (60). These observations indicate that neovascularization is necessary for the rapid clonal expansion associated with the formation of macroscopic tumors. Tumors appear to activate the angiogenic switch by changing the balance of angiogenic inducers and inhibitors (15, 58). Another regulatory mechanism is the function of proteases, which can control the availability of angiogenic activators and inhibitors stored in the extracellular matrix (40).

Tissue hypoxia is a fundamental angiogenic stimulus characteristic also of malignant tumors. The VEGF gene has been shown to contain specific hypoxia-responsive elements and to be upregulated in response to low oxygen tension (55). Ang-2 levels are also increased by hypoxia, suggesting a collaboration of VEGF and Ang-2 in the regulation of neovascularization of ischemic tissue (reviewed in (111)). Tumor-derived signals such as VEGF may specifically induce Ang-2 expression in tumor endothelia, and this may be one important component in angiogenic switch and in the formation of an endogenous tumor microcirculation.

# Vasculature and growth factors in tumors

Microvascular density has been used as a measure of tumor angiogenesis and its correlations to tumor growth, metastasis and prognosis has been studied (197). Levels of VEGF are upregulated in a large number of human tumors (reviewed in (55)) and inhibition of VEGF activity results in the suppression of growth of a wide variety of tumor cell lines in murine models (56). It was long thought that lymphatic vessels may be lost, collapsed or could not penetrate in the expanding primary tumors because they cannot survive in the high interstitial pressure inside the tumors (reviewed in (149)). However, recently some intra-tumoral lymphatic vessels have been observed (180).

Few data are available on the influence of lymphatic microvessel density on survival in cancer. In ovarian cancer, the lymphatic vessel density had no influence on the progression of the disease, and in cervical cancer an increased amount of lymphatic vessels may even be associated with a favorable prognosis (19, 20). It is likely that human tumors demonstrate heterogeneity with regard to the presence or absence of intra-tumoral lymphatics. The nature of the marker may also influence the determination of the lymphatic vessel density. VEGFR-3 has been seen in the endothelial cells of the proliferating vasculature in certain solid tumors and vascular tumor cells of endothelial origin (146, 193) and therefore cannot be used alone to confirm the intratumoral lymphatic vessel density. Other markers for the lymphatic vessels, podoplanin and LYVE-1, would better suit for this purpose and help in elucidating any correlation between lymphatic vessel density and tumor growth, metastases and prognosis.

All VEGFRs are present in tumor neovasculature and tumor cells have been reported to be able to secrete VEGF, VEGF-B,

VEGF-C and VEGF-D (4, 55, 168). However, the angiogenic switch is thought to be carefully regulated and at least some specific genetic events in tumor progression correlate with lymphatic metastasis, suggesting that a "lymphangiogenic switch" mechanism is also a formal possibility.

#### Mechanisms of blood vascular and lymphatic metastasis

The capacity to spread enables cancer cells to escape the primary tumor mass and colonize new areas in the body, where nutrients and space are not growth limiting. Tumor cell dissemination is mediated by mechanisms including invasion, spread via blood or lymphatic vessels or direct seeding of body cavities or surfaces (39). Although the biochemical mechanisms are not completely understood it is thought that the metastatic spread of a tumor is not a random process. Distinct patterns of metastasis can be discerned which vary from tumor type to tumor type. A common metastatic pattern for carcinomas is that regional lymph nodes are often the first organs to develop metastases either draining via pre-existing afferent lymphatic vessels and/or via newly formed lymphatic capillaries. This pattern of metastasis is central to the utility of the sentinel lymphnodectomy as a surgical technique. However, not all tumors and tumor types metastasize to the regional lymph nodes first (161). The mechanisms determining whether regional lymph nodes or other sites first develop metastases remain poorly understood. In fact, most disseminated tumor cells have a limited life span and only a few into clinically detectable develop micrometastases, but identification of those occult tumors cells, and prevention of their growth and spread would be of great clinical significance.

# VEGF-C, VEGF-D and tumor metastases

VEGFR-3 may play an important role in the formation of tumor-induced neovascularization, since it is expressed in capillary vessels during tumor angiogenesis (146, 193). Inactivation of VEGFR-3 by neutralizing antibodies suppressed tumor growth by destabilizing large vessels in tumor xenografts in mice. Micro-haemorrhages were seen in these vessels, suggesting that VEGFR-3 could be involved in maintaining the integrity of the endothelial cell lining in the neovasculature (107). Frequent administration of VEGFR-3 antibody was required for the suppression of tumor growth but the architecture of the non-angiogenic blood and lymphatic vessels remained unaffected. It has also been shown that even a prolonged suppression of VEGF activity in adult mice has no effect on the maintenance of the vascular system, though it suppressed angiogenesis severely in embryos (69). The fully established blood and lymphatic vessels seem to be resistant to treatment with these kinds of anti-angiogenic agents.

Recent work using experimental models has highlighted the role of VEGF-C and VEGF-D in tumor biology. Transgenic mice overexpressing VEGF-C in B-cells of the endocrine pancreas developed extensive lymphangiogenesis around the endocrine islets of Langerhans (126). Furthermore, when tumors were induced in these VEGF-C overexpressing islets, metastatic tumor cell aggregates of B-cell origin were observed in the surrounding lymphatic vessels. These mice also frequently developed metastases in the lymph nodes, which drain the pancreas, whereas tumors in mice lacking the VEGF-C transgene never metastasized nor were tumor cells observed inside the lymphatic vessels (126). Similarly, human breast cancer cells expressing ectopic VEGF-C were shown to induce lymphangiogenesis in and around the orthotopically implanted tumors (97, 176). However, VEGF-C did not have a significant effect on angiogenesis although it increased tumor growth. Increased spreading of the cells to the regional lymph nodes was observed and

the degree of tumor lymphangiogenesis correlated with lymph node metastases (Mattila et al., submitted for publication and (176)). VEGF-C induced tumor growth, lymphangiogenesis and intra-lymphatic tumor growth was inhibited by adenoviral expression of the soluble VEGFR-3 receptor (97).

VEGF-D was also shown to promote the metastatic spread of tumor cells via the lymphatics (180). In addition to lymphangiogenesis and increased metastases, the tumors secreting VEGF-D also had an increased growth rate and tumor angiogenesis. The growth of the tumor, angiogenesis and formation of metastases were inhibited by neutralizing antibodies against VEGF-D. The differences between the tumor angiogenic properties of VEGF-C and VEGF-D may be due to differences in their proteolytic processing in different tumors. Some of the heterogeneity in the effects of these growth factors may also result from variable expression of their receptors, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3, on the blood vascular and lymphatic endothelia. In particular, in the above case, enhanced tumor angiogenesis was probably obtained for VEGF-D because of its increased proteolytic processing, which resulted in an increased affinity to VEGFR-2 (180), when compared to the VEGF-C models. Also, intratumoral lymphatic vessels were observed in tumor xenografts (97, 176, 180), but not in the transgenic tumors (126), which may be at least partially explained by the trapping of vessels in between the rapidly growing tumor foci in the xenografts. On the basis of these observations, tumor vessel formation can be dissected into pathways that preferentially activate angiogenesis via VEGFR-2 and pathways that activate lymphangiogenesis driven by VEGFR-3, although there is evidence that the receptors occasionally share overlapping expression patterns (148).



**Figure 5.** Angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in tumors. At certain stage tumor starts to secrete growth factors that induce the angiogenic and/or lymphangiogenic responses. This allows the spread of metastatic tumor cells via blood or lymphatic vessels.

It is still unknown whether VEGF-C or VEGF-D expression also promotes lymphangiogenesis in human tumors, and if so, does this increase the rate of metastasis to the lymph nodes. VEGF-C expression has been detected in about half of human cancers analyzed (168). In breast cancer VEGF-C expression seems to correlate with lymph node positive tumors, whereas VEGF-D may be expressed predominantly in inflammatory breast carcinomas, suggesting that these growth factors have distinct roles in various tumors despite their biochemical similarities (109). A number of reports have described a correlation between VEGF-C expression in human tumors and the formation of metastases in regional lymph nodes. So far, VEGF-C levels in primary tumors have been shown to correlate significantly with lymph node metastases in thyroid, prostate, gastric, colorectal, lung and eosophageal carcinomas (5, 25, 103, 132, 190, 206). Less is known about the presence of VEGF-D in human tumors, but VEGF-D was shown to be upregulated in human melanomas when compared to melanocytes (4). In melanomas VEGF-D was detected in the tumor cells and in vessels adjacent to immunopositive tumor cells, but not in vessels distant from the tumors. This suggests that VEGF-D binds to the endothelial cells of nearby vessels and contributes in a paracrine manner to the regulation of tumor angiogenesis.

It is not known to what extent tumor cell secreted factors are directly responsible for the large lymphatic vessels occasionally detected around human tumors. Inflammatory cells for example could contribute to the lymphangiogenesis, as VEGF-C is chemotactic for macrophages and induced bν proinflammatory cytokines (49, 160). It is not clear whether the newly formed lymphatic vessels mature in a way similar to the blood vessels, or whether they are more prone to tumor cell invasion for example because of differences in the expression of adhesion receptors. VEGF is known to be able to upregulate the expression of adhesion molecules in the vasculature, but such a role for VEGF-C and VEGF-D is not known.

#### Therapeutic approaches

#### Anti-angiogenic and antimetastatic therapy

Despite advances in surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, the prognosis of many cancers remains poor. One of the goals of gene therapy in cancer treatment is to target the therapeutic gene to all tumor cells, as each untreated tumor cell has the potential to progress and to metastasize. The purpose of combining conventional cancer therapy with anti-angiogenic agents is that the antivascular effects of the chemotherapy and radiotherapy are selectively enhanced in the cells of newly formed vessels, for example when survival signals mediated by VEGF are blocked (reviewed in (53, 100)). However, one needs also to consider the unwanted toxic effects of the cancer therapy on the vasculature, some of which could be alleviated by provision of vascular survival factors (143). Therapy resistance in tumor cells depends on tumor cell heterogeneity, genetic instability and a high mutation rate. Compared to conventional cytostatics, there may well be less of a risk of resistance to antiangiogenic agents, since the endothelial cells are assumed to be genetically more stable and have a lower mutation rate than the tumor cells (21, 53). However, the immature nature of tumor blood vessels should provide a therapeutic window where the tumor vascular endothelium can be targeted leaving the rest of the vasculature intact.

Several anti-angiogenic agents, alone or in combination with conventional therapies, have advanced to clinical trials. Many of them target angiogenic growth factors, their receptors or downstream signalling. For example, neutralizing antibodies against VEGF or VEGFR-2 have been used in the treatment of various solid tumors with and without combination with traditional cancer therapy (32). Although pre-clinical results are promising it is not yet clear how antiangiogenic therapies will perform clinically.

Mechanisms of angiogenesis differ in various tissues. Therefore therapeutic inhibition of angiogenesis needs to be modified for each target tissue (56). There is evidence indicating that different types of tumor have distinct molecular mechanisms to activate the angiogenic switch. Whether a single antiangiogenic molecule will suffice to treat all tumor types, or whether an ensemble of such molecules needs to be developed, remains to be seen. The differences between the surface molecules of blood vascular and lymphatic endothelia can be taken into account when targeting therapeutic agents selectively to tumor lymphatic vessels. This would increase the potency of the drug in the target tissue and limit the possibility of side effects (8,

163). Methods such as cDNA microarray analysis and phage display screening have been used to identify such markers. Toxic or vaso-occlusive therapy has already been used to target directly tumor vasculature (7, 47, 73). The targeting of lymphatic vessels in human tumors would help in imaging these vessels and facilitate studies into the role of lymphatic vessels in the metastatic processes. Anti-cancer drugs specifically targeted to peritumoral lymphatic vessels could be used to inhibit lymphatic metastasis. However, the destruction of these vessels would further elevate the high interstitial pressure inside the tumors impairing the delivery of other drugs. As VEGF-D expression has been shown to become upregulated by direct cell-cell contacts, the increased intratumoral pressure could increase close contacts between the tumor cells and lead to a compensatory increase of the lymphangiogenic growth factor levels (139). Increased intratumoral pressure could also enhance the likelihood of hematogenous metastasis (32, 182).

#### Gene and recombinant protein therapy of myocardial and peripheral ischemia

Ischemic heart disease stems from poor oxygenation of the heart muscle as a consequence of coronary vessel obstruction (39). Promoting angiogenesis in this situation, or in ischemia of the lower limb, may have a positive impact by increasing collateral vessel formation. Various angiogenic approaches to treating ischemic diseases are already in clinical trials (56, 87). Many of them involve the delivery of VEGF to ischemic tissue in order to stimulate the growth of new vessels. One outstanding question is whether a single angiogenic factor can promote functional and sustainable angiogenesis, or if a combination of angiogenic molecules is required. For example, vessels induced by VEGF are leaky and tortuous, so it may be possible to control leakiness by combining VEGF with Ang-1, as was done in a mouse model (187).

Recombinant VEGF-C may also be used as a therapeutic angiogenic growth factor in the treatment of tissue ischemia, possibly even in combination with VEGF (82). The angiogenic

activity of VEGF-C in ischemic conditions may relate to the increased expression of VEGFR-2 and the presence of relatively high endogenous VEGF levels in such conditions. On the other hand, lymphangiogenesis has never been studied in ischemia, but no evidence exists at present concerning the possible role of hypoxia in the regulation of the lymphatic vessels. The findings that VEGF has an important role in bone angiogenesis and endochondral bone formation suggest that these factors could also be used to enhance revascularization in orthopedic conditions such as nonhealing fractures (68).

An important question concerning the proangiogenic therapies is how the therapeutic molecules should be administered. Is it possible to deliver systemically a potent molecule like VEGF in therapeutic quantities without causing toxic side effects, like hypotension or edema and could these be prevented by local therapy? Suitable methods and routes of therapy would also avoid the infiltration of inflammatory cells, such as macrophages, which express VEGFR-1. It is not clear for how long these factors should be administered, whether the therapy leads to a functional vasculature and whether the vessels will regress upon the completion of therapy. At least some of the vessels generated in response to VEGF gene therapy eventually stabilize and acquire periendothelial structures (152). Such stabilization of vessels may depend on the level of intraluminal blood flow. However, concern about potential side effects, such as inappropriate blood vessel growth in patients with diabetic retinopathy or solid tumors, has decreased the enthusiasm for the use of these powerful agents (196).

#### Therapeutic lymphangiogenesis

The discovery of specific genes involved in the regulation of lymphatic vessels, and in the pathology of lymphedema should make the design of more targeted treatments for this disease possible. As transgenic VEGF-C/D overexpression is able to induce the postnatatal growth of new lymphatic vessels in the skin (88, 194), treatment using these molecules may also be useful in lymphedema patients. Subcutaneous viral gene transfer of VEGF-C in mice has already been shown to induce lymphangiogenesis within two weeks of treatment (48, 94). The effect of VEGF-C was explored by both gene therapy and transgene approaches in the Chy lymphedema mouse model (94). These mice, like human patients, have a heterozygous mutation in the VEGFR-3 gene, resulting in partial loss of VEGFR-3 activity, and features typical for lymphedema (94, 119, 118). This impairs the development of the cutaneous lymphatic vasculature and leads to hypoplastic, non-functional vessels. When VEGF-C was overexpressed in the skin of Chy mice, growth of functional cutaneus lymphatic vessels was induced, suggesting that VEGF-C/D gene therapy may be applicable to human lymphedema. Such therapy could also be used in non-hereditary, regional forms of lymphedema resulting from trauma, surgery or lymphatic vessel destruction after filariasis. As VEGFR-3 signalling plays a role in lymphatic endothelial cell survival (123, 125), long term growth factor expression may be needed to obtain lymphangiogenesis, and maintain these vessels in chronic lymphedema. The functional characteristics of the newly formed lymphatic vessels, for example their connections to draining lymphatic vessels, still require additional studies.

Previous studies showed that VEGFR-3 is expressed in lymphatic endothelial cells and that the growth factors VEGF-C and VEGF-D bind and activate it. This study was done to obtain more information about the biological role of this receptor/ligand system in the regulation of lymphatic vessels.

# I. Production of antibodies for lymphatic endothelial cells

Relatively little is known about the role of lymphatic vessels in human pathological conditions. One explanation for this has been the lack of specific markers for lymphatic endothelia leading to difficulties in the recognition of these vessels. We produced monoclonal antibodies against human VEGFR-3 in order to stain the lymphatic endothelial cells in human tissue samples and to study the lymphatic vessels in physiological and pathological conditions in more detail.

#### II. Biological function of VEGFR-3

Gene deletion studies for two other receptors in the VEGF family of growth factors, VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, showed embryonic lethal phenotype due to defective blood vessel development. Previous descriptive studies had shown that VEGFR-3 is expressed in the developing blood vessels in embryos before lymphatic vessels are formed, but its role in early blood vessel development and adult lymphatic vessels was not known. We created mice lacking a functional gene encoding VEGFR-3 in order to find out its biological role.

# III. Overexpression of ligands of VEGFR-3 in transgenic mice

It was known that VEGF-C is able to stimulate both angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis, but since this growth factor binds both VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 it was not clear which receptor mediates the lymphangiogenic signals. VEGF-D was shown to induce angiogenesis, but its lymphangiogenic properties were not known. To answer these questions, we overexpressed mutant form of VEGF-C, which only binds to VEGFR-3 (VEGF-C156S) and VEGF-D in the skin of transgenic mice.

#### IV. VEGF-C in tumor development

Increased expression of VEGF-C in primary tumors had been shown to correlate with dissemination of tumor cells to regional lymph nodes. However, the direct role for VEGF-C in tumor lymphangiogenesis and metastasis was not known. In order to answer this question, we studied the role of VEGF-C in tumorigenesis in transgenic mice, which had overexpression of VEGF-C during pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell tumor development.

### **Materials and Methods**

#### Production of monoclonal antibodies (I)

The extracellular part of the VEGFR-3 protein was produced in a baculovirus expression system and recombinant protein was purified from the culture medium of the infected cells. This protein was used for the immunization of mice by intraperitoneal injection. After sacrificing the mice the splenic lymphoid cells were fused with plasmocytoma cells for the production of antibodies. The clones were tested by flow cytometry and purified from hybridoma ascites fluid. One clone, designated 9D9 was found to stably secrete a monoclonal antibody. The specificity of this antibody for VEGFR-3 was confirmed by FACS (fluorescent activated cell sorting), immunoprecipitation and Western blotting analyses. The antibodies were used for immunohistochemistry of human lymph node, lymphoma, breast cancer and Kaposi's sarcoma samples.

#### VEGFR-3 gene deletion in mice (II)

Mice lacking a functional VEGFR-3 gene (VEGFR-3-LacZ) were generated bv homologous recombination. In the gene deletion construct the bacterial  $\beta$ galactosidase gene (LacZ) replaces the first coding exon of the VEGFR-3 gene, leaving the LacZ-marker gene under the transcriptional regulatory sequences of VEGFR-3. Gene targeting was confirmed by Southern blot analysis. The product of this marker gene, which mimics the expression of endogenous VEGFR-3, can be visualized by the  $\beta$ galactosidase staining allowing the spatial and temporal monitoring of the VEGFR-3 gene expression in these mice.

# Overexpression of VEGF-C and VEGF-D in mice (III, IV)

Two different promoters were used to overexpress VEGF-C or VEGF-D in transgenic mice. Human keratin-14 (K14) promoter was used to direct the expression of full-length human VEGF-C156S (89), VEGF-C or VEGF-D to the basal cells of the epidermis in the skin of transgenic mice. Rat insulin promoter (Rip) was used to target the human VEGF-C expression to pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells. Transgenic mice were generated by microinjection of transgenic DNA constructs into the pronucleus of fertilized oocytes. The resulting mouse lines were analysed for the expression of the transgene by Northern and Southern blotting. The biological consequences of the overexpression of these growth factors were studied in skin or pancreatic tissue samples. Rip-VEGF-C transgenic mice were further crossed with the Rip1Tag2 (SV40 Tag oncogene) transgenic line, which develop pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell tumors, in order to study the role of VEGF-C in tumorigenesis.

# Visualization of blood and lymphatic vessels (I-IV)

Several methods were used to visualize the lymphatic vessels in human and mouse tissues. Antibodies against VEGFR-3 (mouse-antihuman MoAb clone 9D9 or rat-anti-mouse MoAb from Dr. Hajime Kubo) or LYVE-1 (rabbit-anti-mouse PoAb from Dr. D. Jackson) were used for the immunohistochemical staining of lymphatic vessels. Blood vessels were stained for antibodies against vWF (mouse-anti-human PoAb, Dako), CD31 (mouse-anti human MoAb, Dako and rat-antimouse PECAM1, Pharmingen), Pal-e (mouse anti-human MoAb, Pharmingen) and MECA-32 (from Dr. Hallman). Also antibodies against Tie2 (mouse-anti-human, from Dr. Toshio Suda), for high endothelial venules (Heca 452 from Dr. Sirpa Jalkanen and Slex CD15s from Pharmingen), VEGFR-2 (from Dr. Hajime Kubo), VEGF-C (rabbit-anti-human 882 (91)), and VEGF-D (biotinylated goat-anti-mouse, R&D Systems) was used.

Heterozygous VEGFR-3-lacZ mice were used for the visualization of lymphatic vessels in whole mounts of tissue. After  $\beta$ -galactoside staining VEGFR-3 expression sites can be seen in blue. These mutant mice were further crossed with K14-VEGF-C156S and K14-VEGF-D mice to allow the comparison of the lymphatic vessels after transgenic overexpression of these growth factors. Fluorescent dextran (Sigma) and ferritin (Sigma) macromolecules as well as Evans blue dye (Sigma) were used for the intradermal injections in order to visualize the intake and transport capacities of the lymphatic vessels. Intravenous injections of *L. esculentum* lectin (Vector) following the intracardial perfusion of the fixative were used to visualize the blood vessels in whole mounts of mouse tissue.

### **Results and Discussion**

# I. Antibodies against VEGFR-3 stain lymphatic vessels

Monoclonal antibodies produced against the extracellular part of the VEGFR-3 protein stained specifically the endothelial cells of lymphatic vessels. By using these antibodies I could visualize the lymphatic endothelial cells for the first time by single immunohistochemical staining and a comparison with the blood vessels was possible. The lymphatic vessels were stained in both physiological (lymph node and tonsil) and pathological (lymphoma, breast cancer) human tissue samples. Interestingly, the spindle cells of the Kaposi's sarcoma stained positive for VEGFR-3, providing further evidence for the origin of these cells from lymphatic endothelial cells rather than from the blood vascular endothelial cells. This was recently confirmed by similar results obtained by other group with antibodies against podoplanin, another marker for lymphatic endothelial cells (23, 92). The spindle cells of Kaposi's sarcoma have also been shown to express VEGFR-2, Ang-2, Tie-1, and Tie-2 (24, 146, 175). The anti-VEGFR-3 antibodies introduced in this study provide a useful tool for the studies of lymphatic vessels in disease and inflammatory processes.

In further studies by using these antibodies, new information about VEGFR-3 expression has been gained. In addition to lymphatic endothelial cells, VEGFR-3 is seen in a subset of capillary cells and the venous endothelium in adults (147). The fenestrated capillary endothelia of the endocrine organs express VEGFR-3, implying that it may have a role in the endothelial transport functions. VEGFR-3 is also seen in blood vascular endothelia at sites of hematopoiesis or blood cell trafficking, such as in the sinusoids of the liver, spleen and bone marrow. Also some nonendothelial expression of VEGFR-3 has been observed in embryonic notochordal cells and in the throphoblasts of the placenta (147, 200).

Upregulation of VEGFR-3 expression was seen in the angiogenic blood vessels associated with tumor growth (193). Conversely, no upregulation of VEGFR-3 was seen in the angiogenic vessels of a healing wound, whereas transient invasion of VEGFR-3 positive lymphatic vessels was seen to follow the growth of blood vessels into the granulation tissue (141). Suprisingly, VEGFR-3 was widely expressed in the endothelial cells of benign and malignant vascular tumors. VEGFR-3 may thus have more complicated role in the regulation of blood and lymphatic vessels that my previous studies suggested. VEGFR-3 is expressed in the embryonic arteries and veins but in adults it is predominantly seen in lymphatic endothelia. However, it seems to become upregulated in immature blood vascular endothelial cells, such as in proliferating vascular tumors or in tumor angiogenic vessels. This is consistent with the finding that VEGFR-3 is seen in the developing blood vessels of embryos (44, 93). In addition to visualization of lymphatic vessels in adult physiological conditions the anti-VEGFR-3 antibodies can thus be used for the diagnostic of malformations and tumors of both blood and lymphatic vessels. The knowledge about the regulation of lymphatic vessels has just began to accumulate and further studies will show whether the lymphangiogenesis is differently regulated in various physiological and pathological situations.

Recently, lymphatic endothelial cells were isolated from cell cultures by these monoclonal antibodies against VEGFR-3 (125). The availability of lymphatic endothelial cells now allows a more specific study of the genetic and functional properties of these cells and will help to uncover their contribution to molecular pathogenesis where the lymphatic vessels are involved. Freshly isolated lymphatic endothelial cells from malignant and normal tissues would be useful for example in understanding the interactions of stromal lymphatic endothelial cells and tumor cells in for example breast carcinomas. Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells along with their growth factors could also prove useful in the reconstitution of a functional lymphatic network in the axillar region after radical surgery for advanced breast carcinoma.

### II. VEGFR-3 in embryonic development studied by gene disruption strategy

I studied the biological role of VEGFR-3 in relation to the vascular development in VEGFR-3 gene deficient mice. Mice heterozygous for VEGFR-3 were healthy and fertile and the development of the blood and lymphatic vessels appeared normal. However, no mice lacking the both alleles of VEGFR-3 were born. The homozygous mutant embryos failed to thrive and died in utero around midgestation. Analysis of the homozygote embryos revealed cardiovascular failure with deficient blood vessel formation. VEGFR-3 was thus shown to have an important role in embryonic blood vessel development before the lymphatic vessels start to develop. In embryos deficient for VEGFR-3, yolk sac lacked major blood vessels and the large vessels of the embryo, anterior cardinal vein and dorsal aorta, were rudimentary. In further studies, VEGFR-3 deficient embryos were found to suffer from anemia (75), probably due to defects in the vitelline vessels of the yolk sac impairing the yolk sac hematopoiesis. In the head region the vascular plexus failed to undergo remodelling. On the other hand,

no major defects occurred in the differentiation of the endothelial cells or in the formation of the primary vascular networks by vasculogenesis or sprouting angiogenesis. As the lack of both alleles of VEGFR-3 was lethal at midgestation, the effects of VEGFR-3 in the development of the lymphatic vasculature remain to be seen. However, the normally developing, healthy heterozygote embryos and mice can be used to visualize the lymphatic vessels during development and in physiological and pathological processes.

The majority of blood vessel endothelial cell populations around midgestation are positive for both VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3, suggesting that these receptors play essential roles in angiogenesis (75). VEGFR-1 is also seen in the developing vasculature at this stage (61). Endothelial cells are apparently activated by both VEGF and VEGF-C at this stage but it is not known whether these receptors transduce similar signals. The VEGF/VEGFR-2 system appears to be responsible for most of the growth signals for vascular endothelial cells, but it has also been proposed that VEGF-C induces proliferation and differentiation of embryonic vascular endothelial cells through VEGFR-2. VEGF-C signalling through VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 may thus have distinct roles in embryogenic vasculogenesis (75). In addition, in VEGF deficient mice some endothelial cells survive and this may be due to VEGF-C.



Figure 6. VEGFR-3 expression during embryonic development.  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity reveals VEGFR-3 expression in mice embryos deficient for VEGFR-3 (arrows in A-C). VEGFR-3 is essential for the development of blood vessels at midgestation (A), but at later stages its expression is seen in the developing lymphatic vessels (B). In older embryos (C) as well as in adults the VEGFR-3 expression is mainly seen in the lymphatic vessels and the expression in the blood vessels is downregulated (arrowhead in C).

# III. Lymphatic hyperplasia in the skin of transgenic mice overexpressing VEGF-C and VEGF-D

In addition to VEGFR-3. VEGF-C also binds VEGFR-2, which is expressed in both blood and lymphatic endothelia. Therefore it was not clear which receptors mediates the lymphangiogenic effects of VEGF-C. VEGF-D, which binds to the same receptors, was reported to induce angiogenesis, but its role in lymphangiogenic processes was not known. In order to study the lymphangiogenic signalling pathway more specifically, we created transgenic mice overexpressing a VEGFR-3 specific mutant of VEGF-C (VEGF-C156S (89)) or VEGF-D in epidermal keratinocytes of the skin. Both transgenes were seen to be able to induce hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels by both proliferation of the endothelial cells and also by the growth of new lymphatic sprouts. On the other hand, the blood vessel architecture was not affected in these mice, demonstrating that stimulation of the VEGFR-3 is sufficient specifically to induce lymphangiogenesis in vivo. These transgenic models for lymphatic hyperplasia now allow studies of the biology of lymphatic vessels in pathological conditions such as

wound healing, tumor progression and metastasis.

Recently, mice expressing the soluble ligandbinding part of the VEGFR-3 in the skin keratinocytes were generated (123). This soluble receptor protein inhibits the binding of endogenous VEGF-C and VEGF-D to the membrane bound receptor and thus neutralizes the activity of these growth factors. Interestingly, the mice were devoid of dermal lymphatics due to the inhibition of skin lymphangiogenesis and subsequent regression of existing lymphatic vessels during later embryonic development. This indicates that continuous signalling by VEGFR-3 is needed for the maintenance of the lymphatic vasculature and that soluble VEGFR-3 could be used as a specific inhibitor of lymphangiogenesis. The effect was specific for the lymphatic vessels. as the blood vasculature remained normal. However, the lymphatic vessels began to regrow after a few weeks postnatally even thought transgene encoded protein could be detected in the serum. It is thus possible that lymphatic vessels undergo maturation or otherwise become resistant to loss of VEGFR-3 ligands after early postnatal development.

The exact roles of VEGF-C and VEGF-D during embryonic vascular development are still unknown due to a lack of gene deletion studies. Their receptors VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 can be expressed variably in both blood and lymphatic endothelia and proteolytic processing regulates their binding affinity to the receptors. Therefore, VEGF-C and VEGF-D may regulate the responses of lymphatic vessels in adults, but they may also have important roles in physiological and pathological angiogenesis in various conditions. VEGF-C and VEGF-D may also affect the fluid dynamics of lymphatic vessels, and be involved in the formation of valves and recruitment of smooth muscle cells to the developing lymphatic collecting vessels. Unpublished data indicates that VEGF-C and VEGF-D can heterodimerize (Michael Jeltsch personal communication), as has been reported for PIGF and VEGF as well as VEGF-B and VEGF (27, 137). This may make their biological properties even more diverse.

## IV. A genetic model of tumor metastasis in transgenic mice

VEGF-C overexpression was targeted to the  $\beta$ cells of the pancreatic Langerhans islets in order to study the biological role of the VEGF-C in another organ system. An extensive network of lymphangiogenic vessels was seen around the pancreatic islets in the transgenic mice, whereas no such vessels were seen in the control mice. The transgenic mice where further crossed with Rip1Tag2 mice, which develop pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell tumors, in order to study VEGF-C during carcinogenesis. These tumors display morphological features typical of human insulinomas and they are capable of local invasion, but do not metastasize. Double transgenic tumors retained VEGF-C expression during the tumor progression. Interestingly, the tumors were surrounded by wide lymphatic channels, which contained aggregates of tumor cells. In 37% of the doubletransgenic mice, metastatic tumor cells were observed in the regional mesenteric lymph nodes, whereas no tumor cells were observed in the lymphatic vessels or lymph nodes of the control mice. These findings identify VEGF-C-induced lymphangiogenesis as a critical mediator of tumor metastasis.

However, no increase in angiogenesis by VEGF-C was observed in these mice.

Similarly, human breast cancer cells expressing ectopic VEGF-C was reported to induce lymphangiogenesis in orthotopically implanted tumors (97, 176). Increased spreading of the cells to the regional lymph nodes was observed and the degree of tumor lymphangiogenesis was highly correlated with the distant metastases. Also, VEGF-C induced lymphangiogenesis was inhibited by adenoviral treatment with soluble VEGFR-3 receptor (97) but no differences in tumor growth or angiogenesis was observed.

Although it seems evident that both VEGF-C and VEGF-D can induce the growth of new lymphatic vessels, several questions remain unanswered regarding tumor lymphangiogenesis and metastasis. For example, it is not known whether it is sufficient for preexisting lymphatic vessels to expand by circumferential growth, or whether new vessels are required for the enhancement of the metastatic process. On the other hand, lymphatic vessels may either actively penetrate into existing tumors or become trapped in between expanding tumor foci. The intratumoral lymphatic vessels observed are usually collapsed due to the high interstitial pressure in solid tumors, impairing their transport capacity. Also, as in angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis may occur by several mechanisms and different regulatory factors may be involved.

Activation of lymphatic endothelial cells by tumor cell secreted factors may promote the interaction of tumor cells with lymphatic endothelial cells, and thereby facilitate tumor cell entry into the lymphatics. In spite of the increased metastatic tendency of VEGF-C overexpressing tumor cells, metastases were only seen in about one third of the tumor bearing mice. Overall, on the basis of studies in which VEGF-C or VEGF-D has been overexpressed in tumors, one could suggest that there are additional, rate-limiting steps in the metastatic process. The simpliest explanation for the metastasis-enhancing effects of VEGF-C and VEGF-D is that they eliminate one rate-limiting step by increasing the surface area between invading tumor cells, which are in contact with the hyperplastic lymphatic endothelium. However, they could also facilitate metastasis by increasing vascular permeability, by changing the adhesive properties, or cytokine or chemokine expression patterns of the lymphatic endothelium. VEGF-C and VEGF-D secreted by the tumor cells could also have an important effect on the tumor interstitial pressure. Both can increase vascular leakage, but not as efficiently as VEGF, and a parallel increase in lymphangiogenesis could alleviate this effect. The increased interstitial pressure could be a major determinant of tumor cell seeding into the blood vascular and lymphatic circulation, especially as recent studies have shown that a proportion of the lumen of tumor blood vessels themselves consists of tumor cells (35, 78).

### Conclusions

The development and regulation of endothelial cells requires many growth factors orchestrating in a carefully co-ordinated manner. Blood and lymphatic vessels are formed in parallel during embryonic development but both vessel types are maintained in a rather quiescent stage in adults, being activated only in sites of new growth of the tissue. The role of lymphatic vessels in various diseases has not been studied much, but the recent discoveries of specific molecules involved in the biology of lymphatic vessels now allows more extensive studies of these vessels. Similarities between the regulation of blood and lymphatic vessels have been observed and these two vessel systems seem to work in a tightly regulated manner. Lymphangiogenesis may occur at sites of angiogenesis, either following the growth of blood vessels, like in wound healing, or acting independently as has been seen in experimental tumor models. The findings made so far will be helpful in diagnosis of certain vascular tumors, designing specific

treatments for lymphedema and attempts to regulate the metastatic spread of tumor cells via lymphatic vessels. In addition, the isolation and culturing of lymphatic endothelial cells offers additional tools for the study of the molecular characteristics of these cells.

The growth factors VEGF-C and VEGF-D and their receptor VEGFR-3 are the first molecules found to regulate the lymphatic endothelial cells. This study presents further data on the biological role of VEGFR-3 during embryonic development as well as in adult physiological and pathological conditions. The experimental studies presented here show the potential of the growth factors VEGF-C and VEGF-D to induce the growth of lymphatic vessels. The challenge for future studies will be the use of these molecules in therapeutic purposes, or for the inhibition of VEGFR-3 signalling to prevent the metastatic spread of tumors via lymphatic vessels.

### Acknowledgements

I began the study presented here at the University of Helsinki, Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory, in the spring 1996, under the supervision of Professor Kari Alitalo. I'm grateful to him for the opportunity to do this work and for all the support and belief he has shown on me. Under his guidance, I have been able to follow and be involved in this fascinating and rapidly expanding area of research.

I acknowledge the support and advice of all of my fellow researchers and employees in the Haartman Institute and Biomedicum Helsinki. I wish to express my gratitude to Professor Eero Saksela, the head of the department, for providing such good working facilities. I would also like to thank warmly him for his encouragement and interest in my work from the very beginning.

I wish to address special thanks to my main co-authors Arja Kaipainen, Jussi Taipale, Daniel Dumont and Tanja Veikkola. It has been a pleasure to know you and to work with you.

I also thank Reija Valtola, Taina Partanen, Petri Salven, Päivi Heikkilä, Marja-Terttu Matikainen, Risto Renkonen, Michael Detmar, Ervin Tschachler, Riitta Alitalo, Tuija Mustonen, Katri Pajusola, Martin Breitman, Stefano Mandriota, Michael Jeltsch, Amelia Compagni, Danielle Baetens, Remko Prevo, Suneale Banerji, Joachim Huarte, Roberto Montesano, David G. Jackson, Lelio Orci, Gerhard Christofori, Michael Pepper, Gavin Thurston, Donald McDonald, Marc Achen and Steven Stacker for the pleasant and important collaboration concerning the original publications.

I wish to thank warmly all the people, who presently are and were, in the Molecular/Cancer Biology group for the nice company and all the help with the experiments. I have a lot of great memories and many good friends from various times in the lab as well as in "outside life". Specially, I need to thank Tapio Tainola, Pipsa Ylikantola, Eija Koivunen and all the other technicians for the important help in lab work, from which I have benefited in many ways.

Dr. Hannu Sariola and Dr. Ulf Eriksson are acknowledged for reviewing the manuscript of this thesis, and for their encouragement. Thank you for making this process so smooth. Warm thanks go to Alun Parsons for kindly reviewing the language of this thesis.

I need to thank all my friends for keeping me attached to normal life while working in the lab. Warm thoughts go to all "the girls and boys" in Medical School, who have been an endless source of joy during these years.

Finally, I would like to thank warmly my family for all the support. I dedicate this work to my father, who inspired me to choose medicine.

I have been financially supported by the Foundation of the Finnish Cancer Institute, the Finnish Cancer Organizations, Finnish Medical Foundation, Paulo Foundation, Finnish Cultural Foundation, Emil Aaltonen Foundation, AstraZeneca, and the Angiogenesis Group of the Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research.

In Helsinki, November 2001

Xottz Juseih

### References

1. Aase, K., A. Lymboussaki, A.

Kaipainen, B. Olofsson, K. Alitalo, and U. Eriksson. Localization of VEGF-B in the mouse embryo suggests a paracrine role of the growth factor in the developing vasculature. Dev Dyn 215: 12-25, 1999.

2. Aase K, v. E. G., Li X, Ponten A, Thoren P, Cao R, Cao Y, Olofsson B, Gebre-Medhin S, Pekny M, Alitalo K, Betsholtz C, Eriksson U. Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-B-Deficient Mice Display an Atrial Conduction Defect. Circulation. 104: 358-364, 2001.

3. Achen, M., M. Jeltsch, E. Kukk, T. Makinen, A. Vitali, A. Wilks, K. Alitalo, and S. Stacker. Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (Flt4). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95: 548-553, 1998.

4. Achen MG, W. R., Minekus MP, Thornton GE, Stenvers K, Rogers PA, Lederman F, Roufail S, Stacker SA. Localization of vascular endothelial growth factor-D in malignant melanoma suggests a role in tumour angiogenesis. Am J Pathol. 193: 147-154, 2001.

5. Akagi, K., Y. Ikeda, M. Miyazaki, T. Abe, J. Kinoshita, Y. Maehara, and K. Sugimachi. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C) expression in human colorectal cancer tissues. Br. J. Cancer 83: 887-891, 2000.

6. Alon, T., I. Hemo, A. Itin, J. Pe'er, J. Stone, and E. Keshet. Vascular endothelial growth factor acts as a survival factor for newly formed retinal vessels and has implications for retinopathy of prematurity. Nature Med 1: 1024-1028, 1995.

7. Arap W, P. R., Ruoslahti E. Cancer treatment by targeted drug delivery to tumor vasculature in a mouse model. Science 279: 323-324, 1998.

8. Arap W, P. R., Ruoslahti E. Chemotherapy targeted to tumor vasculature. Curr Opin Oncol. 10: 560-565, 1998.

9. Baldwin ME, C. B., Nice EC, Roufail S, Hall NE, Stenvers KL, Karkkainen MJ, Alitalo K,

Stacker SA, Achen MG. The specificity of receptor binding by vascular endothelial growth factor-d is different in mouse and man. J Biol Chem. 276: 19166-19171, 2001.

10. Banerji, S., J. Ni, S. X. Wang, C. S., J. Su, R. Tammi, M. Jones, and D. G. Jackson. LYVE-1, a new homologue of the CD44 glycoprotein, is a lymph-specific receptor for hyaluronan. J. Cell Biol. 144: 789-801, 1999.

11. Barleon, B., S. Hauser, C. Schollmann, K. Weindel, D. Marme, A. Yayon, and H. A. Weich. Differential expression of the two VEGF receptors flt and KDR in placenta and vascular endothelial cells. J Cell Biochem 54: 56-66, 1994.

12. Barsky, S. H., A. Baker, G. P. Siegal, S. Togo, and L. A. Liotta. Use of antibasement membrane antibodies to distinguish blood vessel capillaries from lymphatic capillaries. Am J Surg Pathol 7: 667-677, 1983.

13. Bellomo, D., J. P. Headrick, G. U. Silins, C. A. Paterson, P. S. Thomas, M. Gartside, A. Mould, M. M. Cahill, I. D. Tonks, S. M. Grimmond, S. Townson, C. Wells, M. Little, M. C. Cummings, N. K. Hayward, and G. F. Kay. Mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor-B gene (Vegfb) have smaller hearts, dysfunctional coronary vasculature, and impaired recovery from cardiac ischemia. Circ Res 86: E29-E35, 2000.

14. Benjamin LE, G. D., Itin A, Pode D, Keshet E. Selective ablation of immature blood vessels in established human tumors follows vascular endothelial growth factor withdrawal. J Clin Invest. 103: 159-156, 1999.

15. Bergers, G., K. Javaherian, K. M. Lo, J. Folkman, and D. Hanahan. Effects of angiogenesis inhibitors on multistage carcinogenesis in mice. Science 284: 808-812, 1999.

16. Bergsten, E., M. Uutela, X. Li, K. Pietras, A. Ostman, C. H. Heldin, K. Alitalo, and U. Eriksson. PDGF-D is a specific, protease-activated ligand for the PDGF beta-receptor. Nat Cell Biol. 3: 2001.

17. Betsholtz, C., and E. Raines. Plateletderived growth factor: a key regulator of connective tissue cells in embryogenesis and pathogenesis. Kidney Int 51: 1361-1369, 1997. 18. Betsholtz C, K. L., Lindahl P. Developmental roles of platelet-derived growth factors. Bioessays 6: 494-507, 2001.

19. Birner P, S. M., Obermair A, Breitenecker G, Kowalski H, Oberhuber G. Lymphatic microvessel density as a novel prognostic factor in early-stage invasive cervical cancer. Int J Cancer 95: 29-33, 2001.

20. Birner P, S. M., Obermair A, Plank C, Breitenecker G, Kowalski H, Oberhuber G. Lymphatic microvessel density in epithelial ovarian cancer: its impact on prognosis. Anticancer Res 20: 2981-2985, 2000.

21. Boehm T, F. J., Browder T, O'Reilly MS. Antiangiogenic therapy of experimental cancer does not induce acquired drug resistance. Nature 390: 404-407, 1997.

22. Breiteneder-Geleff, S., K. Matsui, A. Soleiman, P. Meraner, H. Poczewski, R. Kalt, G. Schaffner, and D. Kerjaschki. Podoplanin, novel 43-kd membrane protein of glomerular epithelial cells, is down-regulated in puromycin nephrosis. Am. J. Pathol. 151: 1141-1152, 1997.

23. Breiteneder-Geleff, S., A. Soleiman, H. Kowalski, R. Horvat, G. Amann, E. Kriehuber, K. Diem, W. Weninger, E. Tschachler, K. Alitalo, and D. Kerjaschki. Angiosarcomas express mixed endothelial phenotypes of blood and lymphatic capillaries: podoplanin as a specific marker for lymphatic endothelium. Am. J. Pathol. 154: 385-394, 1999.

24. Brown LF, D. B., Tognazzi K, Dvorak HF, Yancopoulos GD. Expression of Tie1, Tie2, and angiopoietins 1, 2, and 4 in Kaposi's sarcoma and cutaneous angiosarcoma. Am. J. Pathol. 156: 2179-2183, 2000.

25. Bunone, G., P. Vigneri, L. Mariani, S. Buto, P. Collini, S. Pilotti, M. A. Pierotti, and I. Bongarzone. Expression of angiogenesis stimulators and inhibitors in human thyroid tumors and correlation with clinical pathological features. Am. J. Pathol. 155: 1967-1976, 1999.

26. Buschmann I, S. W. Arteriogenesis Versus Angiogenesis: Two Mechanisms of Vessel Growth. News Physiol Sci. 14: 121-125, 1999.

27. Cao, Y., H. Chen, L. Zhou, M.-K. Chiang, B. Anand-Apte, J. A. Weatherbee, Y. Wang, F. Fang, J. G. Flanagan, and M. L.-S. Tsang. Heterodimers of placenta growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor. Endothelial activity, tumor cell expression, and high affinity binding to Flk-1/KDR. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 3154-3162, 1996.

28. Cao, Y., W. R. Ji, P. Qi, A. Rosin, and Y. Cao. Placenta growth factor: identification and characterization of a novel isoform generated by RNA alternative splicing. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 235: 493-498, 1997.

29. Cao, Y., P. Linden, J. Farnebo, R. Cao, A. Eriksson, V. Kumar, J.-H. Qi, L. Claesson-Welsh, and K. Alitalo. Vascular endothelial growth factor C induces angiogenesis in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 95: 14389-14392, 1998.

30. Carmeliet, P. Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. Nat. Med. 6: 389-395, 2000.

31. Carmeliet, P., V. Ferreira, G. Breier, S. Pollefeyt, L. Kieckens, M. Gertsenstein, M. Fahrig, A. Vandenhoeck, K. Harpal, C. Ebenhardt, C. Declercq, J. Pawling, L. Moons, D. Collen, W. Risau, and A. Nagy. Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. Nature 380: 435-439, 1996.

32. Carmeliet P, J. R. Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. Nature 407: 249-257, 2000.

33. Carmeliet P, M. L., Luttun A, Vincenti V, Compernolle V, De Mol M, Wu Y, Bono F, Devy L, Beck H, Scholz D, Acker T, DiPalma T, Dewerchin M, Noel A, Stalmans I, Barra A, Blacher S, Vandendriessche T, Ponten A, Eriksson U, Plate KH, Foidart JM, Schaper W, Charnock-Jones DS, Hi. Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. Nat Med 7: 575-583, 2001.

34. Carmeliet P, N. Y., Nuyens D, Theilmeier G, Brusselmans K, Cornelissen I, Ehler E, Kakkar VV, Stalmans I, Mattot V, Perriard JC, Dewerchin M, Flameng W, Nagy A, Lupu F, Moons L, Collen D, D'Amore PA, Shima DT. Impaired myocardial angiogenesis and ischemic cardiomyopathy in mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor isoforms VEGF164 and VEGF188. Nat Med. (5): 495-502, 1999. 35. Chang YS, d. T. E., McDonald DM, Jones R, Jain RK, Munn LL. Mosaic blood vessels in tumors: frequency of cancer cells in contact with flowing blood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 97: 14608-14613, 2000.

36. Charnock-Jones DS, S. A., Boocock CA, Ahmed A, Plevin R, Ferrara N, Smith SK. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor localization and activation in human trophoblast and choriocarcinoma cells. Biol Reprod. 51: 524-530, 1994.

37. Chen H, B. A., Zupicich JA, Zou Y, Stoeckli E, Pleasure SJ, Lowenstein DH, Skarnes WC, Chedotal A, Tessier-Lavigne M. Neuropilin-2 regulates the development of selective cranial and sensory nerves and hippocampal mossy fiber projections. Neuron. 25: 43-56, 2000.

38. Clauss, M., M. Gerlach, H. Gerlach, J. Brett, F. Wang, P. C. Familetti, Y.-C. E. Pan, J. V. Olander, D. T. Connolly, and D. Stern. Vascular permeability factor: a tumor-derived polypeptide that induces endothelial cell and monocyte procoagulant activity and promotes monocyte migration. J. Exp. Med. 172: 1535-1545, 1990.

39. Cotran, R. S., Kumar, V. and Tucker, C. Robbins Pathologic Basis of Disease. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Company, 1999.

40. Coussens LM, R. W., Bergers G, Laig-Webster M, Behrendtsen O, Werb Z, Caughey GH, Hanahan D. Inflammatory mast cells upregulate angiogenesis during squamous epithelial carcinogenesis. Genes Dev. 13: 1382-1397, 1999.

41. De Vries, C., J. A. Escobedo, H. Ueno, K. Houck, N. Ferrara, and L. T. Williams. The *fms*-like tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. Science 255: 989-991, 1992.

42. Dumont, D. J., G.-H. Fong, M. Puri, G. Gradwohl, K. Alitalo, and M. L. Breitman. Vascularization of the mouse embryo: a study of *flk-1*, *tek*, *tie* and VEGF expression during development. Mech. Dev. 203: 80-92, 1995.

43. Dumont, D. J., G. Gradwohl, G.-H. Fong, M. C. Puri, M. Gertsenstein, A. Auerbach, and M. L. Breitman. Dominantnegative and targeted null mutations in the endothelial receptor tyrosine kinase, *tek*, reveal a critical role in vasculogenesis of the embryo. Genes Dev. 8: 1897-1909, 1994. 44. Dumont, D. J., L. Jussila, J. Taipale, A. Lymboussaki, T. Mustonen, K. Pajusola, M. Breitman, and K. Alitalo. Cardiovascular failure in mouse embryos deficient in VEGF receptor-3. Science 282: 946-949, 1998.

45. Dvorak, H. F., L. F. Brown, M. Detmar, and A. M. Dvorak. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor, microvascular hyperpermeability, and angiogenesis. Am. J. Pathol. 146: 1029-1039, 1995.

46. Dvorak, H. F., V. S. Harvey, P. Estrella, L. F. Brown, J. McDonagh, and A. M. Dvorak. Fibrin containing gels induce angiogenesis: implications for tumor stroma generation and wound healing. Lab. Invest. 57: 673-686, 1987.

47. Ellerby HM, A. W., Ellerby LM, Kain R, Andrusiak R, Rio GD, Krajewski S, Lombardo CR, Rao R, Ruoslahti E, Bredesen DE, Pasqualini R. Anti-cancer activity of targeted pro-apoptotic peptides. Nat Med 9: 1032-1038, 1999.

48. Enholm, B., T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, H. Kubo, F. Stenback, R. Prevo, D. G. Jackson, S. Ylä-Herttuala, and K. Alitalo. Adenoviral expression of Vascular endothelial growth factor-C induces lymphangiogenesis in the skin. Circ. Res. 88: 623-629, 2001.

49. Enholm, B., K. Paavonen, A. Ristimaki, V. Kumar, Y. Gunji, J. Klefstrom, L. Kivinen, M. Laiho, B. Olofsson, V. Joukov, U. Eriksson, and K. Alitalo. Comparison of VEGF, VEGF-B, VEGF-C and Ang-1 mRNA regulation by serum, growth factors, oncoproteins and hypoxia. Oncogene 14: 2475-2483, 1997.

50. Evans, A. L., G. Brice, V. Sotirova, P. Mortimer, J. Beninson, K. Burnand, J. Rosbotham, A. Child, and M. Sarfarazi. Mapping of primary congenital lymphedema to the 5q35.3 region. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 64: 547-555, 1999.

51. Fang, J., S. L. Dagenais, R. P. Erickson, M. F. Arlt, M. W. Glynn, J. L. Gorski, L. H. Seaver, and T. W. Glover. Mutations in FOXC2 (MFH-1), a forkhead family transcription factor, are responsible for the hereditary lymphedema-distichiasis syndrome. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 67: 1382-1388, 2000.

52. Ferrara, N. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in regulation of physiological angiogenesis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 280: 1358-1366, 2001. 53. Ferrara, N. VEGF: an update on biological and therapeutic aspects. Curr Opin Biotechnol 11: 617-624, 2000.

54. Ferrara, N., K. Carver-Moore, H. Chen, M. Dowd, L. Lu, K. S. O'Shea, L. Powell-Braxton, K. J. Hillan, and M. W. Moore. Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. Nature 380: 439-442, 1996.

55. Ferrara, N., and T. Davis-Smyth. The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor. Endocrine Reviews 18: 4-25, 1997.

56. Ferrara N, A. K. Clinical applications of angiogenic growth factors and their inhibitors. Nat Med 5: 1359-1364, 1999.

57. Ferrell, R. E., K. L. Levinson, J. H. Esman, M. A. Kimak, E. C. Lawrence, M. M. Barmada, and D. N. Finegold. Hereditary lymphedema: evidence for linkage and genetic heterogeneity. Hum. Mol. Genet. 7: 2073-2078, 1998.

58. Folkman, J. Angiogenesis and tumor growth. N Engl J Med 334: 921, 1996.

59. Folkman, J. Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease. Nature Medicine 1: 27-31, 1995.

60. Folkman, J., K. Watson, D. Ingber, and D. Hanahan. Induction of angiogenesis during the transition from hyperplasia to neoplasia. Nature 339: 58-61, 1989.

61. Fong, G.-H., J. Rossant, M. Gertsenstein, and M. L. Breitman. Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. Nature 376: 66-70, 1995.

62. Fong, G.-H., L. Zhang, D.-M. Bryce, and J. Peng. Increased hemangioblast commitment, not vascular disorganization, is the primary defect in flt-1 knock-out mice. Development 126: 3015-3025, 1999.

63. Fujisawa H, K. T., Kawakami A, Takagi S, Shimizu M, Hirata T. Roles of a neuronal cell-surface molecule, neuropilin, in nerve fiber fasciculation and guidance. Cell Tissue Res. 290: 465-470, 1997.

64. Gale, N. W., and G. D. Yancopoulos. Growth factors acting via endothelial cellspecific receptor tyrosine kinases: VEGFs, angiopoietins, and ephrins in vascular development. Genes Dev. 13: 1055-1066, 1999.

65. Galland, F., A. Karamysheva, M.-G. Mattei, O. Rosnet, S. Marchetto, and D.

Birnbaum. Chromosomal localization of *FLT4*, a novel receptor-type tyrosine kinase gene. Genomics 13: 475-478, 1992.

66. Gallo, R. The enigmas of Kaposi's sarcoma. Science 282(5395): 1837-1839, 1998.

67. Gasmi A, A. F., Srairi N, Oijatayer A, Karoui H, Elayeb M. Purification and characterization of a growth factor-like which increases capillary permeability from Vipera lebetina venom. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 268: 69-72, 2000.

68. Gerber, H., Vu TH, Ryan AM, Kowalski J, Werb Z, Ferrara N. VEGF couples hypertrophic cartilage remodeling, ossification and angiogenesis during endochondral bone formation. Nat Med. 5: 623-628, 1999.

69. Gerber HP, H. K., Ryan AM, Kowalski J, Keller GA, Rangell L, Wright BD, Radtke F, Aguet M, Ferrara N. VEGF is required for growth and survival in neonatal mice. Development 126(6): 1149-1159, 1999.

70. Gerber HP, M. A., Kowalski J, Yan M, Keyt BA, Dixit V, Ferrara N. Vascular endothelial growth factor regulates endothelial cell survival through the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/Akt signal transduction pathway. Requirement for Flk-1/KDR activation. J Biol Chem. 273: 30336-30343, 1998.

71. Giger RJ, C. J., Sahay A, Prinjha RK, Levengood DV, Moore SE, Pickering S, Simmons D, Rastan S, Walsh FS, Kolodkin AL, Ginty DD, Geppert M. Neuropilin-2 is required in vivo for selective axon guidance responses to secreted semaphorins. Neuron. 1: 29-41, 2000.

72. Gluzman-Poltorak, Z., T. Cohen, Y. Herzog, and G. Neufeld. Neuropilin-2 and neuropilin-1 are receptors for the 165-amino acid form of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and of placenta growth factor-2, but only neuropilin-2 functions as a receptor for the 145-amino acid form of VEGF. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 18040-18045, 2000.

73. Gottstein C, W. W., Ober B, Thorpe PE. Generation and characterization of recombinant vascular targeting agents from hybridoma cell lines. Biotechniques 30: 190-194, 2001.

74. Grugel, S., G. Finkenzeller, K. Weindel, B. Barleon, and D. Marme. Both v-Ha-Ras and v-Raf Stimulate Expression of the

Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor in NIH 3T3 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 25915-25919, 1995.

75. Hamada K, O. Y., Takakura N, Ito Y, Jussila L, Dumont DJ, Alitalo K, Suda T. VEGF-C signaling pathways through VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 in vasculoangiogenesis and hematopoiesis. Blood 96: 3793-3800, 2000.

76. Hanahan, D. Signaling vascular morphogenesis and maintance. Science 277: 48-50, 1997.

77. Hanahan, D., and R. A. Weinberg. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100: 57-70, 2000.

78. Hashizume H, B. P., Morikawa S, McLean JW, Thurston G, Roberge S, Jain RK, McDonald DM. Openings between defective endothelial cells explain tumor vessel leakiness. Am J Pathol. 156: 1363-1380, 2000.

79. Heldin CH, W. B. Mechanism of action and in vivo role of platelet-derived growth factor. Physiol Rev. 79: 1283-1316, 1999.

80. Hellstrom, M., H. Gerhardt, M. Kalen, X. Li, U. Eriksson, H. Wolburg, and C. Betsholtz. Lack of pericytes leads to endothelial hyperplasia and abnormal vascular morphogenesis. J Cell Biol 30: 543-553., 2001.

81. Hellstrom, M., M. Kalen, P. Lindahl, A. Abramsson, and C. Betsholtz. Role of PDGF-B and PDGFR-beta in recruitment of vascular smooth muscle cells and pericytes during embryonic blood vessel formation in the mouse. Development 126: 3047-3055., 1999.

82. Hiltunen, M. O., M. Laitinen, M. Turunen, M. Jeltsch, J. Hartikainen, T. T. Rissanen, J. Laukkanen, M. Niemi, M. Kossila, T. P. Hakkinen, A. Kivela, B. Enholm, H. Mansukoski, A. M. Turunen, K. Alitalo, and S. Yla-Herttuala. Intravascular adenovirusmediated VEGF-C gene transfer reduces neointima formation in balloon-denuded rabbit aorta. Circulation 102: 2262-2268, 2000.

83. Houck, K. A., N. Ferrara, J. Winer, G. Cachianes, B. Li, and D. W. Leung. The vascular endothelial growth factor family - identification of a fourth molecular species and characterization of alternative splicing of RNA. Mol. Endocrinol. 5: 1806-1814, 1991.

84. Hughes, D. Alternative splicing of the human VEGFGR-3/FLT4 gene as a consequence of an integrated human endogenous retrovirus. J Mol Evol. 53: 77-79, 2001.

85. Huntington, G. S., and C. F. W. McClure. The anatomy and development of

the jugular lymph sac in the domestic cat (*Felis domestica*). Am. J. Anat. 2: 1-19, 1908.

86. Irrthum, A., M. J. Karkkainen, K. Devriendt, K. Alitalo, and M. Vikkula. Congenital hereditary lymphedema caused by a mutation that inactivates VEGFR3 tyrosine kinase. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 67: 295-301, 2000.

87. Isner JM, A. T. Angiogenesis and vasculogenesis as therapeutic strategies for postnatal neovascularization. J Clin Invest. 103: 1231-1236., 1999.

88. Jeltsch, M., A. Kaipainen, V. Joukov, X. Meng, M. Lakso, H. Rauvala, M. Swartz, D. Fukumura, R. K. Jain, and K. Alitalo. Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. Science 276: 1423-1425, 1997.

89. Joukov, V., V. Kumar, T. Sorsa, E. Arighi, H. Weich, O. Saksela, and K. Alitalo. A recombinant mutant vascular endothelial growth factor-C that has lost vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 binding, activation, and vascular permeability activities. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 6599-6602, 1998.

90. Joukov, V., K. Pajusola, A. Kaipainen, D. Chilov, I. Lahtinen, E. Kukk, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, and K. Alitalo. A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J. 15: 290-298, 1996.

91. Joukov, V., T. Sorsa, V. Kumar, M. Jeltsch, L. Claesson-Welsh, Y. Cao, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, and K. Alitalo. Proteolytic processing regulates receptor specificity and activity of VEGF-C. EMBO J. 16: 3898-3911, 1997.

92. Jussila, L., R. Valtola, T. A. Partanen, P. Salven, P. Heikkila, M. T. Matikainen, R. Renkonen, A. Kaipainen, M. Detmar, E. Tschachler, R. Alitalo, and K. Alitalo. Lymphatic endothelium and Kaposi's sarcoma spindle cells detected by antibodies against the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3. Cancer Res 58: 1599-1604, 1998.

93. Kaipainen, A., J. Korhonen, T. Mustonen, V. W. M. van Hinsbergh, G.-H. Fang, D. Dumont, M. Breitman, and K. Alitalo. Expression of the *fms*-like tyrosine kinase FLT4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92: 3566-3570, 1995.

94. Karkkainen, M., A. Saaristo, L. Jussila, K. Karila, E. Lawrence, K. Pajusola, H. Bueler, A. Eichmann, M. Kettunen, S. Ylä-Herttuala, D. Finegold, R. Ferrell, and K. Alitalo. A model for gene therapy of human hereditary lymphedema. PNAS 98: 12677-12682, 2001.

95. Karkkainen, M. J., R. E. Ferrell, E. C. Lawrence, M. A. Kimak, K. L. Levinson, M. A. McTigue, K. Alitalo, and D. N. Finegold. Missense mutations interfere with VEGFR-3 signalling in primary lymphoedema. Nat. Genet. 25: 153-159, 2000.

96. Karkkainen, M. J., and T. V. Petrova. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptors in the regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Oncogene 19: 5598-5605, 2000.

97. Karpanen, T., M. Egeblad, M. J. Karkkainen, H. Kubo, D. G. Jackson, S. Ylä-Herttuala, M. Jäättelä, and K. Alitalo. Vascular endothelial growth factor C promotes tumor lymphangiogenesis and intralymphatic tumor growth. Cancer Res. 61: 1786-1790, 2001.

98. Katoh O, T. H., Kawaishi K, Kimura A, Satow Y. Expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor gene, KDR, in hematopoietic cells and inhibitory effect of VEGF on apoptotic cell death caused by ionizing radiation. Cancer Res. 55: 5687-5692, 1995.

99. Kawasaki T, K. T., Bekku Y, Matsuda Y, Sanbo M, Yagi T, Fujisawa H. A requirement for neuropilin-1 in embryonic vessel formation. Development 126: 4895-4902, 1999.

100. Kerbel, R. Tumor angiogenesis: past, present and the near future. Carcinogenesis 3: 505-515, 2000.

101. Keyt, B. A., H. V. Nguyen, L. T. Berleau, C. M. Duarte, J. Park, H. Chen, and N. Ferrara. Identification of vascular endothelial growth factor determinants for binding KDR and FLT-1 receptors. Generation of receptor-selective VEGF variants by site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 5638-5646, 1996.

102. Kim, K. J., B. Li, J. Winer, M. Armanini, N. Gillett, H. S. Phillips, and N. Ferrara. Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor induced angiogenesis suppresses

tumour growth *in vivo*. Nature 362: 841-844, 1993.

103. Kitadai Y, A. T., Haruma K, Tanaka S, Yoshihara M, Sumii K, Matsutani N, Yasui W, Chayama K. Clinicopathological significance of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-C in human esophageal squamous cell carcinomas. Int J Cancer 93: 662-666, 2001.

104. Kitsukawa T, S. A., Kawakami A, Kondoh H, Fujisawa H. Overexpression of a membrane protein, neuropilin, in chimeric mice causes anomalies in the cardiovascular system, nervous system and limbs. Development 121: 4309-4318, 1995.

105. Komori Y, N. T., Taniguchi K, Masuda K, Sugihara H. Vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF-like heparin-binding protein from the venom of Vipera aspis aspis (Aspic viper). Biochemistry 38: 11796-11803, 1999.

106. Kriehuber E, B.-G. S., Groeger M, Soleiman A, Schoppmann SF, Stingl G, Kerjaschki D, Maurer D. Isolation and characterization of dermal lymphatic and blood endothelial cells reveal stable and functionally specialized cell lineages. J Exp Med. 194: 797-808, 2001.

107. Kubo, H., T. Fujiwara, L. Jussila, H. Hashi, M. Ogawa, K. Shimizu, M. Awane, Y. Sakai, A. Takabayashi, K. Alitalo, Y. Yamaoka, and S. I. Nishikawa. Involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 in maintenance of integrity of endothelial cell lining during tumor angiogenesis. Blood 96: 546-553, 2000.

108. Kukk, E., A. Lymboussaki, S. Taira, A. Kaipainen, M. Jeltsch, V. Joukov, and K. Alitalo. VEGF-C receptor binding and pattern of expression with VEGFR-3 suggests a role in lymphatic vascular development. Development 122: 3829-3837, 1996.

109. Kurebayashi, J., T. Otsuki, H. Kunisue, Y. Mikami, K. Tanaka, S. Yamamoto, and H. Sonoo. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family members in breast cancer. Jpn. J. Cancer Res. 90: 977-981, 1999.

110. Landgren, E., P. Schiller, Y. Cao, and L. Claesson-Welsh. Placenta growth factor stimulates MAP kinase and mitogenicity but not phospholipase C-gamma and migration of endothelial cells expressing Flt 1. Oncogene 16: 359-367, 1998. 111. Lauren, J., Y. Gunji, and K. Alitalo. Is angiopoietin-2 necessary for the initiation of tumor angiogenesis? Am. J. Pathol. 153: 1333-1339, 1998.

112. LeCouter J, K. J., Foster J, Hass P, Zhang Z, Dillard-Telm L, Frantz G, Rangell L, DeGuzman L, Keller GA, Peale F, Gurney A, Hillan KJ, Ferrara N. Identification of an angiogenic mitogen selective for endocrine gland endothelium. Nature 412: 877-884, 2001.

113. Leu, J. J., and J. T. Lie. Diseases of the veins and lymphatic vessels, including angiodysplasias. In: Vascular pathology, edited by Stehbens, W. E., and Lie, J. T. London: Chapman & Hall, 1995, vol. p. 489-516.

114. Leveen P, P. M., Gebre-Medhin S, Swolin B, Larsson E, Betsholtz C. Mice deficient for PDGF B show renal, cardiovascular, and hematological abnormalities. Genes Dev. 8: 1875-1887, 1994.

115. Li, X., A. Ponten, K. Aase, L. Karlsson, A. Abramsson, M. Uutela, G. Backstrom, M. Hellstrom, H. Bostrom, i. H. L, P. Soriano, C. Betsholtz, C. H. Heldin, K. Alitalo, A. Ostman, and U. Eriksson. PDGF-C is a new proteaseactivated ligand for the PDGF alpha-receptor. Nat Cell Biol. 2: 302-309, 2000.

116. Lindahl, P., B. R. Johansson, P. Leveen, and C. Betsholtz. Pericyte loss and microaneurysm formation in PDGF-B-deficient mice. Science 277: 242-245, 1997.

117. Linehan SA, M.-P. L., da Silva RP, Gordon S. Endogenous ligands of carbohydrate recognition domains of the mannose receptor in murine macrophages, endothelial cells and secretory cells; potential relevance to inflammation and immunity. Eur J Immunol. 6: 1857-1866, 2001.

118. Lyon, M. F., and P. H. Glenister. Mouse News Lett. 74: 96, 1986.

119. Lyon, M. F., and P. H. Glenister. Mouse News Lett. 71: 26, 1984.

120. Lyttle, D. J., K. M. Fraser, S. B. Fleming, A. A. Mercer, and A. J. Robinson. Homologs of vascular endothelial growth factor are encoded by the poxvirus orf virus. J Virol 68: 84-92, 1994.

121. Maglione, D., V. Guerriero, G. Viglietto, P. Delli-Bovi, and M. G. Persico. Isolation of a human placenta cDNA coding for a protein related to the vascular permeability

factor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88: 9267-9271, 1991.

122. Maisonpierre, P. C., C. Suri, P. F. Jones, S. Bartunkova, S. J. Wiegand, C. Radziejewski, D. Compton, J. McClain, T. H. Aldrich, N. Papadopoulos, T. J. Daly, S. Davis, T. N. Sato, and G. D. Yancopoulos. Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis. Science 277: 55-60, 1997.

123. Makinen, T., L. Jussila, T. Veikkola, T. Karpanen, M. I. Kettunen, K. J. Pulkkanen, R. Kauppinen, D. G. Jackson, H. Kubo, S.-I. Nishikawa, S. Ylä-Herttuala, and K. Alitalo. Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis with resulting lymphedema in transgenic mice expressing soluble VEGF receptor-3. Nat. Med. 7: 199-205, 2001.

124. Makinen, T., B. Olofsson, T. Karpanen, U. Hellman, S. Soker, M. Klagsbrun, U. Eriksson, and K. Alitalo. Differential binding of vascular endothelial growth factor B splice and proteolytic isoforms to neuropilin-1. J Biol Chem 274: 21217-21222, 1999.

125. Makinen T, V. T., Mustjoki S, Karpanen T, Catimel B, Nice EC, Wise L, Mercer A, Kowalski H, Kerjaschki D, Stacker SA, Achen MG, Alitalo K. Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. EMBO J. 20: 4762-4773, 2001.

126. Mandriota, S. J., L. Jussila, M. Jeltsch, A. Compagni, D. Baetens, R. Prevo, S. Banerji, J. Huarte, R. Montesano, D. G. Jackson, L. Orci, K. Alitalo, G. Christofori, and M. S. Pepper. Vascular endothelial growth factor-Cmediated lymphangiogenesis promotes tumour metastasis. EMBO J. 20: 672-682, 2001.

127. Marconcini L, M. S., Morbidelli L, Cartocci E, Albini A, Ziche M, Bussolino F, Oliviero S. c-fos-induced growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor D induces angiogenesis in vivo and in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 96: 9671-9676, 1999.

128. Meyer, M., M. Clauss, A. Lepple-Wienhues, J. Waltenberger, H. G. Augustin, M. Ziche, C. Lanz, M. Buttner, H. J. Rziha, and C. Dehio. A novel vascular endothelial growth factor encoded by Orf virus, VEGF-E, mediates angiogenesis via signalling through VEGFR-2 (KDR) but not VEGFR-1 (Flt-1) receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J. 18: 363-374, 1999. 129. Migdal, M., B. Huppertz, S. Tessler, A. Comforti, M. Shibuya, R. Reich, H. Baumann, and G. Neufeld. Neuropilin-1 is a placenta growth factor-2 receptor. J Biol Chem 273: 22272-22278, 1998.

130. Mondy JS, L. V., Miyashiro JK, Berk BC, Dean RH, Geary RL. Platelet-derived growth factor ligand and receptor expression in response to altered blood flow in vivo. Circ Res 81: 320-327, 1997.

131. Nibbs RJ, K. E., Ponath PD, Parent D, Qin S, Campbell JD, Henderson A, Kerjaschki D, Maurer D, Graham GJ, Rot A. The betachemokine receptor D6 is expressed by lymphatic endothelium and a subset of vascular tumors. Am J Pathol. 158: 867-877, 2001.

132. Niki T, I. S., Tokunou M, Yamada T, Matsuno Y, Hirohashi S. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factors A, B, C, and D and their relationships to lymph node status in lung adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 6: 2431-2439, 2000.

133. Ogawa, S., A. Oku, A. Sawano, S. Yamaguchi, Y. Yazaki, and M. Shibuya. A novel type of vascular endothelial growth factor: VEGF-E (NZ-7 VEGF) preferentially utilizes KDR/Flk-1 receptor and carries a potent mitotic activity without heparin-binding domain. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 31273-31282, 1998.

134. Oh, S. J., M. M. Jeltsch, R. Birkenhager, J. E. McCarthy, H. A. Weich, B. Christ, K. Alitalo, and J. Wilting. VEGF and VEGF-C: specific induction of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in the differentiated avian chorioallantoic membrane. Dev. Biol. 188: 96-109, 1997.

135. Ohsawa M, N. N., Tomita Y, Kawamori D, Kanno H, Aozasa K. Use of immunohistochemical procedures in diagnosing angiosarcoma. Evaluation of 98 cases. Cancer 75(12): 2867-2874, 1995.

136. Olofsson, B., E. Korpelainen, M. S. Pepper, S. J. Mandriota, K. Aase, V. Kumar, Y. Gunji, M. M. Jeltsch, M. Shibuya, K. Alitalo, and U. Eriksson. Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) binds to VEGF receptor-1 and regulates plasminogen activator activity in endothelial cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95: 11709-11714, 1998.

137. Olofsson, B., K. Pajusola, A. Kaipainen, G. von Euler, V. Joukov, O.

Saksela, A. Orpana, R. F. Pettersson, K. Alitalo, and U. Eriksson. Vascular endothelial growth factor B, a novel growth factor for endothelial cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 2576-2581, 1996a.

138. Oosthuyse B, M. L., Storkebaum E, Beck H, Nuyens D, Brusselmans K, Van Dorpe J, Hellings P, Gorselink M, Heymans S, Theilmeier G, Dewerchin M, Laudenbach V, Vermylen P, Raat H, Acker T, Vleminckx V, Van Den Bosch L, Cashman N, Fujisawa H, Drost MR, Sciot R, Bruyninckx F, Hic. Deletion of the hypoxia-response element in the vascular endothelial growth factor promoter causes motor neuron degeneration. Nat Genet. 28: 131-138, 2001.

139. Orlandini M, O. S. In fibroblasts Vegf-D expression is induced by cell-cell contact mediated by cadherin-11. J Biol Chem. 276(9): 6576-6581, 2001.

140. Orr-Urtreger A, L. P. Platelet-derived growth factor-A and its receptor are expressed in separate, but adjacent cell layers of the mouse embryo. Development 115(4): 1045-1058, 1992.

141. Paavonen, K., P. Puolakkainen, L. Jussila, T. Jahkola, and K. Alitalo. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 in lymphangiogenesis in wound healing. Am. J. Pathol. 156: 1499-1504, 2000.

142. Pajusola, K., O. Aprelikova, J. Korhonen, A. Kaipainen, L. Pertovaara, R. Alitalo, and K. Alitalo. FLT4 receptor tyrosine kinase contains seven immunoglobulin-like loops and is expressed in multiple human tissues and cell lines. Cancer Res. 52: 5738-5743, 1992.

143. Paris F, F. Z., Kang A, Capodieci P, Juan G, Ehleiter D, Haimovitz-Friedman A, Cordon-Cardo C, Kolesnick R. Endothelial apoptosis as the primary lesion initiating intestinal radiation damage in mice. Science 293: 293-297, 2001.

144. Park, J. E., H. H. Chen, J. Winer, K. A. Houck, and N. Ferrara. Placenta growth factor. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioactivity, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and high affinity binding to Flt-1 but not to Flk-1/KDR. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 25646-25654, 1994.

145. Park, J. E., G.-A. Keller, and N. Ferrara. The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) isoforms: Differential deposition

into the subepithelial extracellular matrixbound VEGF. Mol. Biol. Cell. 4: 1317-1326, 1993.

146. Partanen, T. A., K. Alitalo, and M. Miettinen. Lack of lymphatic vascular specificity of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 in 185 vascular tumors. Cancer 86: 2406-2412, 1999.

147. Partanen, T. A., J. Arola, A. Saaristo, L. Jussila, A. Ora, M. Miettinen, S. A. Stacker, M. G. Achen, and K. Alitalo. VEGF-C and VEGF-D expression in neuroendocrine cells and their receptor, VEGFR-3, in fenestrated blood vessels in human tissues. FASEB J. 14: 2087-2096, 2000.

148. Partanen, T. A., T. Makinen, J. Arola, T. Suda, H. A. Weich, and K. Alitalo. Endothelial growth factor receptors in human fetal heart. Circulation 100: 583-586, 1999.

149. Pepper, M. Lymphangiogenesis and tumor metastasis: myth or reality? Clin Cancer Res. 7: 462-468, 2001.

150. Pepper, M. S., S. J. Mandriota, M. Jeltsch, V. Kumar, and K. Alitalo. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-C synergizes with basic fibroblast growth factor and VEGF in the induction of angiogenesis in vitro and alters endothelial cell extracellular proteolytic activity. J Cell Physiol 177: 439-452, 1998.

151. Petrova TV, M. T., Alitalo K. Signaling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. Exp Cell Res. 253: 117-130, 1999.

152. Pettersson A, N. J., Brown LF, Sundberg C, Morgan E, Jungles S, Carter R, Krieger JE, Manseau EJ, Harvey VS, Eckelhoefer IA, Feng D, Dvorak AM, Mulligan RC, Dvorak HF. Heterogeneity of the angiogenic response induced in different normal adult tissues by vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor. Lab Invest. 80: 99-115, 2000.

153. Prevo R, B. S., Ferguson DJ, Clasper S, Jackson DG. Mouse LYVE-1 is an endocytic receptor for hyaluronan in lymphatic endothelium. J Biol Chem 276: 19420-19430, 2001.

154. Puri, M. C., J. Partanen, J. Rossant, and A. Bernstein. Interaction of the TEK and TIE receptor tyrosine kinases during cardiovascular development. Development. 126: 4569-4580, 1999. 155. Puri, M. C., J. Rossant, K. Alitalo, A. Bernstein, and J. Partanen. The receptor tyrosine kinase TIE is required for integrity and survival of vascular endothelial cells. EMBO J. 14: 5884-5891, 1995.

156. Rafii, S. Circulating endothelial precursors: mystery, reality, and promise. J. Clin. Invest. 105: 17-19, 2000.

157. Rak, J., Y. Mitsuhashi, L. Bayko, J. Filmus, S. Shirasawa, T. Sasazuki, and R. S. Kerbel. Mutant ras oncogenes upregulate VEGF/VPF expression: implications for induction and inhibition of tumour angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 55: 4575-4580, 1995.

158. Risau, W. Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 386: 671-674, 1997.

159. Risau, W., and I. Flamme. Vasculogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 11: 73-91, 1995.

160. Ristimaki, A., K. Narko, B. Enholm, V. Joukov, and K. Alitalo. Proinflammatory cytokines regulate expression of the lymphatic endothelial mitogen vascular endothelial growth factor-C. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 8413-8418, 1998.

161. Roozendaal GK, d. V. J., van Poll D, Jansen L, Schraffordt Koops H, Nieweg OE, Kroon BB. Sentinel nodes outside lymph node basins in patients with melanoma. Br J Surg. 88: 305-308, 2001.

162. Rothbart D, A. I., Lee J, Kim J, Harbaugh R, Criscuolo GR. Expression of angiogenic factors and structural proteins in central nervous system vascular malformations. Neurosurgery 38: 915-925, 1996.

163. Ruoslahti, E. Targeting tumor vasculature with homing peptides from phage display. Semin Cancer Biol. 10: 435-442, 2000.

164. Ruoslahti E, R. D. An address system in the vasculature of normal tissues and tumors. Annu Rev Immunol. 18: 813-827, 2000.

165. Ryan, T. J., P. S. Mortimer, and R. L. Jones. Lymphatics of the skin. International Journal of Dermatology 25: 411-419, 1986.

166. Sabin, F. R. On the development of the superficial lymphatics in the skin of the pig. Am. J. Anat. 9: 43-91, 1904.

167. Sabin, F. R. On the origin of the lymphatic system from the veins and the development of the lymph hearts and thoracic duct in the pig. Am. J. Anat. 1: 367-391, 1902.

168. Salven, P., A. Lymboussaki, P. Heikkila, H. Jaaskela-Saari, B. Enholm, K. Aase, G. von Euler, U. Eriksson, K. Alitalo, and H. Joensuu. Vascular endothelial growth factors VEGF-B and VEGF-C are expressed in human tumors. Am. J. of Pathology 153: 103-108, 1998.

169. Sato, T. N., Y. Tozawa, U. Deutsch, K. Wolburg-Buchholz, Y. Fujiwara, M. Gendron-Maguire, T. Gridley, H. Wolburg, W. Risau, and Y. Qin. Distinct roles of the receptor tyrosine kinases Tie-1 and Tie-2 in blood vessel formation. Nature 376: 70-74, 1995.

170. Schmelz, M., and W. W. Franke. Complexus adhaerentes, a new group of desmoplakin-containing junctions in endothelial cells: the syndesmos connecting retothelial cells of lymph nodes. Eur. J. Cell Biol. 61: 274-289, 1993.

171. Schneider, M., K. Othman-Hassan, B. Christ, and J. Wilting. Lymphangioblasts in the avian wing bud. Dev. Dyn. 216: 311-319, 1999.

172. Senger, D. R., S. J. Galli, A. M. Dvorak, C. A. Perruzzi, V. S. Harvey, and H. F. Dvorak. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. Science 219: 983-985, 1983.

173. Shalaby, F., J. Rossant, T. P. Yamaguchi, M. Gertsenstein, X. F. Wu, M. L. Breitman, and A. C. Schuh. Failure of blood island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. Nature 376: 62-66, 1995.

174. Shweiki, D., A. Itin, D. Soffer, and E. Keshet. Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. Nature 359: 843-848, 1992.

175. Skobe, M., L. F. Brown, K. Tognazzi, R. K. Ganju, B. J. Dezube, K. Alitalo, and M. Detmar. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C) and its receptors KDR and flt-4 are expressed in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. J. Invest. Dermat. 113: 1047-1053, 1999.

176. Skobe, M., T. Hawighorst, D. G. Jackson, R. Prevo, L. Janes, P. Velasco, L. Riccardi, K. Alitalo, K. Claffey, and M. Detmar. Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis by VEGF-C promotes breast cancer. Nat. Med. 7: 192 - 198, 2001.

177. Soker, S., H. Fidder, G. Neufeld, and M. Klagsbrun. Characterization of novel vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptors on tumor cells that bind VEGF165 via its exon 7-encoded domain. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 5761-5767, 1996.

178. Soker S, T. S., Miao HQ, Neufeld G, Klagsbrun M. Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoformspecific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. Cell 92: 735-745, 1998.

179. Soriano, P. Abnormal kidney development and hematological disorders in PDGF beta-receptor mutant mice. Genes Dev. 8: 1888-1896, 1994.

180. Stacker, S. A., C. Caesar, M. E. Baldwin, G. E. Thornton, R. A. Williams, R. Prevo, D. G. Jackson, S. Nishikawa, H. Kubo, and M. G. Achen. VEGF-D promotes the metastatic spread of tumor cells via the lymphatics. Nat. Med. 7: 186 - 191, 2001.

181. Stacker SA, S. K., Caesar C, Vitali A, Domagala T, Nice E, Roufail S, Simpson RJ, Moritz R, Karpanen T, Alitalo K, Achen MG. Biosynthesis of vascular endothelial growth factor-D involves proteolytic processing which generates non-covalent homodimers. J Biol Chem. 274: 32127-32136, 1999.

182. Stohrer M, B. Y., Stangassinger M, Jain RK. Oncotic pressure in solid tumors is elevated. Cancer Res. 60: 4251-4255, 2000.

183. Sturzl M, Z. C., Monini P, Ensoli B. Human herpesvirus-8 and Kaposi's sarcoma: relationship with the multistep concept of tumorigenesis. Adv Cancer Res. 81: 125-159, 2001.

184. Suri, C., P. F. Jones, S. Patan, S. Bartunkova, P. C. Maisonpierre, S. Davis, T. N. Sato, and G. D. Yancopoulos. Requisite role of Angiopoietin-1, a ligand for the TIE2 receptor, during embryonic angiogenesis. Cell 87: 1171-1180, 1996.

185. Teichert-Kuliszewska K, M. P., Jones N, Campbell AI, Master Z, Bendeck MP, Alitalo K, Dumont DJ, Yancopoulos GD, Stewart DJ. Biological action of angiopoietin-2 in a fibrin matrix model of angiogenesis is associated with activation of Tie2. Cardiovasc Res. 49: 659-670, 2001.

186. Terman, B. I., M. Dougher-Vermazen, M. E. Carrion, D. Dimitrov, D. C. Armellino, D. Gospodarowicz, and P. Böhlen. Identification of the KDR tyrosine kinase as a receptor for vascular endothelial cell growth factor. Biochem Biophys Res Comm 187: 1579-1586, 1992. 187. Thurston, G., J. S. Rudge, E. loffe, H. Zhou, L. Ross, S. D. Croll, N. Glazer, J. Holash, K. McDonald, and G. D. Yancopoulos. Angiopoietin-1 protects the adult vasculature against plasma leakage. Nat. Med. 6: 460-463, 2000.

188. Thurston, G., C. Suri, K. Smith, J. McClain, T. N. Sato, G. D. Yancopoulos, and D. M. McDonald. Leakage-resistant blood vessels in mice transgenically overexpressing angiopoietin-1. Science 286: 2511-2514, 1999.

189. Trzewik J, M. S., Artmann GM, Delano FA, Schmid-Schonbein GW. Evidence for a second valve system in lymphatics: endothelial microvalves. FASEB J. 10: 1711-1717, 2001.

190. Tsurusaki, T., S. Kanda, H. Sakai, H. Kanetake, Y. Saito, K. Alitalo, and T. Koji. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C expression in human prostatic carcinoma and its relationship to lymph node metastasis. Br. J. Cancer 80: 309-313, 1999.

191. Turner, R. R., J. H. Beckstead, R. A. Warnke, and G. S. Wood. Endothelial cell phenotypic diversity. In situ demonstration of immunologic and enzymatic heterogeneity that correlates with specific morphologic subtypes. Am. J. Clin. Path. 87: 569-575, 1987.

192. Uutela M, L. J., Bergsten E, Li X, Horelli-Kuitunen N, Eriksson U, Alitalo K. Chromosomal location, exon structure, and vascular expression patterns of the human PDGFC and PDGFD genes. Circulation 103: 2242-2247, 2001.

193. Valtola, R., P. Salven, P. Heikkila, J. Taipale, H. Joensuu, M. Rehn, T. Pihlajaniemi, H. Weich, R. deWaal, and K. Alitalo. VEGFR-3 and its ligand VEGF-C are associated with angiogenesis in breast cancer. Am J Pathol 154: 1381-1390, 1999.

194. Veikkola, T., L. Jussila, T. Makinen, T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, T. V. Petrova, H. Kubo, G. Thurston, D. M. McDonald, M. G. Achen, S. A. Stacker, and K. Alitalo. Signalling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 is sufficient for lymphangiogenesis in transgenic mice. EMBO J. 6: 1223-1231, 2001.

195. Wang, H. U., Z. F. Chen, and D. J. Anderson. Molecular distinction and angiogenic interaction between embryonic arteries and veins revealed by ephrin-B2 and its receptor Eph-B4. Cell 93: 741-753, 1998. 196. Ware, J. A., and M. Simons. Angiogenesis in ischemic heart disease. Nat Med. 3(2): 158-164, 1997.

197. Weidner, N. Tumor angiogenesis: review of current applications in tumor prognostication. Semin Diagn Pathol 10: 302-313, 1993.

198. Wigle, J. T., and G. Oliver. Prox1 function is required for the development of the murine lymphatic system. Cell 98: 769-778, 1999.

199. Wilting, J., and B. Christ. Embryonic angiogenesis: a review. Naturwissenschaften 83(4): 153-164, 1996.

200. Wilting J, E. A., Christ B. Expression of the avian VEGF receptor homologues Quek1 and Quek2 in blood-vascular and lymphatic endothelial and non-endothelial cells during quail embryonic development. Cell Tissue Res 288: 207-223, 1997.

201. Wise, L. M., T. Veikkola, A. A. Mercer, L. J. Savory, S. B. Fleming, C. Caesar, A. Vitali, T. Makinen, K. Alitalo, and S. A. Stacker. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-like protein from orf virus NZ2 binds to VEGFR2 and neuropilin-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96: 3071-3076, 1999.

202. Witte, M. H., R. Erickson, M. Bernas, M. Andrade, F. Reiser, W. Conlon, H. E. Hoyme, and C. L. Witte. Phenotypic and genotypic heterogeneity in familial Milroy lymphedema. Lymphology 31: 145-155, 1998.

203. Witte, M. H., D. L. Way, C. L. Witte, and M. Bernas. Lymphangiogenesis: Mechanisms, significance and clinical implications. In: Regulation of angiogenesis, edited by Goldberg, I. D., and Rosen, E. M. Basel, Switzerland: Birkhäuser Verlag, 1997, vol. p. 65-112.

204. Witzenbichler, B., T. Asahara, T. Murohara, M. Silver, I. Spyridopoulos, M. Magner, N. Principe, M. Kearney, J.-S. Hu, and J. M. Isner. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C/VEGF-2) promotes angiogenesis in the setting of tissue ischemia. Am. J. Pathol. 153: 381-394, 1998.

205. Yancopoulos, G. D., M. Klagsbrun, and J. Folkman. Vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and growth factors: ephrins enter the fray at the border. Cell 93: 661-664, 1998.

206. Yonemura, Y., Y. Endo, H. Fujita, S. Fushida, I. Ninomiya, E. Bandou, K. Taniguchi, K. Miwa, S. Ohoyama, K. Sugiyama, and T. Sasaki. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor C expression in the development of lymph node metastasis in gastric cancer. Clin. Cancer Res. 5: 1823-1829, 1999.

207. Ziegler BL, V. M., Porada GA, De Maria R, Muller R, Masella B, Gabbianelli M, Casella I, Pelosi E, Bock T, Zanjani ED, Peschle C. KDR receptor: a key marker defining hematopoietic stem cells. Science 285: 1553-1558, 1999.

208. Ziegler, S. F., T. A. Bird, J. A. Schneringer, K. A. Schooley, and P. R. Baum. Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel receptor protein tyrosine kinase from human placenta. Oncogene 8: 663-670, 1993.